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29 September 2020   

         

 

AA plc results for the six-month period ended 31 July 2020 
 

 

Simon Breakwell, Chief Executive Officer, commented: 

“We delivered a remarkably strong performance in the first half, reflecting the resilience of our operations and 

the swift actions we took to mitigate the challenges presented by COVID-19.  It is particularly pleasing that during 

this period, the AA was once again recognised by Which? for the quality of service we provide to our members 

and customers.   

“In a time of national crisis, I am very proud that our employees exemplified the true culture of the AA by going 

above and beyond for our members and by supporting thousands of NHS employees and several ambulance 

services across the country. 

“As we look ahead, despite the continued uncertainty and challenges of COVID-19, we are reiterating our full 

year guidance of delivering a robust performance in FY21 (year ending 31 January 2021), only slightly below 

that of the prior year, demonstrating our confidence in our resilient and flexible business model.” 

 

Presentation  

The live audio webcast of the presentation with accompanying slides will be available for analysts and 
investors at https://www.investis-live.com/aa/5f2c283ad9f7a00c00bd7144/edsa at 09:00 (UK time) today.        
A recording of the webcast will be made available from 12:30 (UK time). 

 

 

Strong operational performance  

 

 

Six months ended 
July 20 
(H1 21)  

Six months ended 
July 19 
(H1 20)  Change 

GAAP measures      

Revenue (£m) 478  491  -2.6% 

Operating profit (£m)  121  120  +0.8% 

Profit before tax (PBT) (£m) 26  42  -38.1% 

Basic EPS (pence) 3.4  5.5  -38.2% 

 

Non-GAAP measures      

Trading EBITDA1 (£m) 173  165  +4.8% 

Trading EBITDA2 margin (%) 36.2  33.6  +7.7% 

Free cash flow4 (£m) 21  44  -52.3% 

Adjusted profit before tax3 (£m) 51  46  +10.9% 

Adjusted basic EPS3 (pence) 6.7  6.0  +11.7% 

 

 

  

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.investis-live.com%2Faa%2F5f2c283ad9f7a00c00bd7144%2Fedsa&data=02%7C01%7CZeeshan.Maqbool%40TheAA.com%7C341bcfa11ef649b3333208d85aeaa86c%7C52da6cebc43245d89cee97902996ced9%7C0%7C0%7C637359311176733197&sdata=QLyCmwfDXTyxKPN0S%2FQsADRrNTuw1oJfN9xMuVnrxBA%3D&reserved=0
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Key operational highlights  

Roadside 

• Good performance reflecting the resilience of our core Roadside business and our ability to act 

decisively to protect profitability during lockdown. 

• AA top of table in Which? for second year running and endorsed Recommended Provider status 

for breakdown cover for third year running.  AA also won top six places for the second year 

running for best manufacturer breakdown cover provider.  

• As expected, membership base down slightly in the period at 3,150k (H1 20: 3,190k, FY20: 

3,215k), a reduction of 2.0%; Retention flat at 80% (H1 20: 80% FY20: 80%) reflects strength of 

service proposition.  

• Average income per paid member based on 12-month average holding down 1.2% in the period at 

£164 (H1 20: £164, FY20: £166) due to the initial impact of the lockdown which led to fewer new 

member sales and reduced demand for European breakdown cover. 

• All key B2B contracts retained or extended.  Focus on generating new revenue streams through 

breadth of additional technical services including Service, Maintenance and Repair (SMR). 

• Average income per B2B customer up 4.5% to £23 (H1 20: £22, FY20: £22). 

• Driving Schools, DriveTech and other smaller businesses significantly impacted during the 

lockdown, however, recent trading performance has been positive. 

Insurance 

• 11.2% growth in motor policies in the period to 966,000 (H1 20: 803,000, FY20: 869,000) and 

0.9% growth in home policies in the period to 852,000 (H1 20: 841,000, FY20: 844,000), 

benefiting from ongoing investment in marketing and strong growth of in-house underwriter.  

• In-house underwriter represented 56% of the total motor policy book and 42% of the total home 

policy book as at 31 July 2020. 

• Continued strong cross-sell conversion rates of 35% (H1 20: 30%, FY20: 33%) into our Roadside 

business.  

• Average income per motor and home policy down 7.2% in the period to £77 (H1 20: £79, FY20: 

£83) reflecting lower commissions and our decision to support customers during COVID-19 

through reduction in administration and processing fees. 

• Renewal rates and claims costs for the in-house underwriter were in line with the broader market. 

• Long-term financial services partnership with the Bank of Ireland UK extended for an additional 

three years to at least 2028. 

 

Key financial highlights 

• Trading EBITDA up 4.8% to £173m (H1 20: £165m) reflecting resilience of core operations and 

prudent cost management actions to mitigate the impact of COVID-19.  The Trading EBITDA 

movement excludes furlough support of £6m from the Government which is reported below 

Trading EBITDA as part of adjusting operating items; PBT reduced to £26m (H1 20: £42m) due to 

adjusting finance costs of £20m related to the February 2020 refinancing of £325m of Class A5 

notes in exchange for new Class A8 notes. 

• To minimise the impact on trading, we acted decisively and executed a number of operational and 

financial changes to our business that resulted in the deferral and reduction of a range of 

operating costs across the Group including: no pay rises, a general hiring freeze, a 15% reduction 
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in pay for all Board members for three months, and tight cost control across the business.  The 

Group also applied for the Government’s furlough scheme as noted above for those parts of our 

business where it has been necessary for us to adjust to reduced levels of workload. 

• Capex down at £30m (H1 20: £37m) reflecting timing of project spend, reduction in labour costs 

and re-prioritisation of IT maintenance spend due to COVID-19. 

• Positive free cash flow (pre-dividends, refinancing costs and bond buy-back) of £21m (H1 20: 

£44m).  Figure lower than last year principally due to working capital outflow of £6m in the period 

compared to an inflow of £19m last year as well as higher tax payments in the period reflecting the 

change to the timing of corporation tax payments mandated by HMRC.   

• Completion of the triennial review of UK defined benefit pension scheme to 31 March 2019 results 

in a significant reduction to the technical provisions deficit of 64.2% to £131m (31 March 2016: 

£366m).  Annual cash saving expected to be c.£6m per annum. 

• Completion of a consultation process to close the CARE section of the UK defined benefit pension 

scheme.  

Update on proposed refinancing 

• Debt reduction remains the key priority and the Group continues to proactively manage its capital 

structure and to seek to reduce its indebtedness well in advance of the upcoming maturity dates in 

2022.  

• The Board is continuing to review a range of potential refinancing options, including the possibility 

of raising new equity.   

• In considering the different potential refinancing options available, the Board wishes to ensure that 

the Group has a stable, long-term capital structure which will require a significant amount of 

additional new capital to be raised in order to reduce indebtedness and to fund future growth.   

• As set out in a separate announcement on 24 September, as part of the refinancing process the 

Group is continuing to progress discussions with TowerBrook Capital Partners (U.K.) LLP and 

Warburg Pincus International LLC (together the "Consortium") regarding a possible all-cash offer 

for the entire issued and to be issued share capital of the Company, including an intention to de-

lever the AA's capital structure significantly, consistent with the Company's objectives5.  The 

deadline for the Consortium to either announce a firm intention to make an offer or announce that 

it does not intend to make an offer was today extended to 27 October 2020. 

• The majority of the Group’s borrowings are long term in nature, none of the Group’s facilities or 

bonds fall due for repayment within the next 15 months and the first maturity date is not until 

January 2022 which should provide the Group with time to achieve a successful refinancing.  The 

Group also remains well within its financial covenants and had cash and cash equivalents of 

£166m6 available as at 31 July 2020 together with an available Working Capital Facility of £60m, 

of which £56m remains undrawn at the period end. 

 

FCA update 

On 22 September 2020, the FCA published its final report on its General Insurance Pricing Practices market 

study setting out its findings on how the home and motor insurance markets are working.  In addition to this, to 

address their findings they published a consultation paper outlining the proposed remedies to support effective 

competition and lead to good consumer outcomes.  There are a number of proposals including the requirements 

to ensure that renewal prices are no higher than the equivalent new business prices in relation to motor and 

home insurance products, as well as requiring firms in the general insurance market to assess and deliver fair 

value to customers on all their general insurance products.  Firms have until 25 January 2021 to respond to the 

FCA’s proposals, who have the intention of publishing a policy statement in Q2 2021. We welcome the FCA’s 

report and opportunity to participate in the ongoing consultation.  We remain focused on delivering good 

outcomes for all our customers and look forward to engaging with the FCA over the next few months. 
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Outlook  
 
Looking ahead, COVID-19 continues to create uncertainty in the macro environment and the Group remains 

cautious about the second half of the year.  However, given the benefit of the actions already taken in H1 and 

our flexibility to adjust to further changes in trading, the Group reiterates its previous expectations of delivering 

a robust performance in FY21 (year ending 31 January 2021), only slightly below that of the prior year.  This 

confidence in our performance reflects our resilient business model both in Trading EBITDA performance and 

in positive recurring cash generation7. 

AA Profit Forecast  
 
The section of this announcement entitled “Outlook” included the following statement: “However, given the 
benefit of the actions already taken in H1 and our flexibility to adjust to further changes in trading, the Group 
reiterates its previous expectations of delivering a robust performance in FY21 (year ending 31 January 
2021), only slightly below that of the prior year.  This confidence in our performance reflects our resilient 
business model both in Trading EBITDA performance and in positive recurring cash generation.”   
 
The statement that Trading EBITDA performance in FY21 is expected to be only slightly below that of the prior 
year constitutes a profit forecast for the purposes of Rule 28.1 of the Takeover Code (the “AA Profit 
Forecast”).  
 
Basis of preparation and assumptions  
 
The AA Profit Forecast is based upon internal AA forecasts updated to reflect the impact of the COVID-19 
outbreak. It excludes any impact from any successful acquisition of, or any unsuccessful attempt to acquire, 
AA (the “Acquisition”).  
 
The basis of accounting used for the AA Profit Forecast is consistent with AA’s current accounting policies, 
which are in accordance with IFRS, and are those which are expected to apply in preparing AA’s financial 
statements for the financial year ending 31 January 2021.  The AA Profit Forecast excludes any costs 
associated with the Acquisition and does not take into account any future effect that may result from the 
completion of the Acquisition.  The AA Directors have prepared the AA Profit Forecast on the basis of the 
following assumptions:  
 
Factors outside the influence or control of the AA Directors  

• There will be no material change to the existing prevailing global macroeconomic environment, 
including, but not limited to, foreign exchange movements and political conditions over the period to 31 
January 2021.  

• There will be no material change in market conditions over the period to 31 January 2021, particularly 
in relation to customer demand or the competitive environment, including as a result of increased 
COVID-19 related restrictions. 

• There will be no business disruption (including natural disasters, acts of terrorism, cyber-attacks and 
technological issues) or other material adverse events over the period to 31 January 2021 that will 
have a material impact on the Group, its customers, operations or suppliers. 

• There will be no material change in legislation, taxation, regulatory requirements, or the position of any 
regulatory bodies impacting on AA’s operations, expenditure or its accounting policies over the period 
to 31 January 2021.  

• There will be no material adverse outcome from any ongoing or future disputes with any trading 
partner, competitor, regulator or tax authority.  

• There will be no material unplanned change in the capital structure of the Group. 
 
Factors within the influence or control of the AA Directors  

• The Group does not carry out any acquisitions or disposals, or enter into, terminate or vary any joint 
venture which is material in the context of the AA Profit Forecast (taking into account any potential 
related transaction or abortive costs).  

• There is no material change to AA’s existing operational strategy, and AA’s cost base and capital 
expenditures do not materially change over the forecast period to 31 January 2021.  

• AA’s accounting policies will be consistently applied over the forecast period to 31 January 2021.  
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AA Directors’ confirmation  
 

The AA Directors have considered the AA Profit Forecast and confirm that it remains valid as at the date of this 

announcement and has been properly compiled on the basis of the assumptions set out above and that the 

basis of the accounting used is consistent with AA’s accounting policies. 

 

Ends. 

 
 
Enquiries 
 

 
 

Investors 
Zeeshan Maqbool 
 

+44 20 7395 7301 
zeeshan.maqbool@theaa.com 

Media (FTI Consulting) 
Alex Le May 
John Waples 
Nick Hasell 

+44 20 3727 1340 
 

 
 

Notes 

1. Earnings before net finance costs, tax, depreciation, amortisation, adjusting operating items, share-

based payments and pension service charge adjustment.  

2. Trading EBITDA divided by revenue arising within operating segments.  

3. Adjusted for a number of one-offs including: adjusting operating items, share-based payments, pension 

service charge adjustment, the write off of debt issue fees and penalties on early repayment of debt. 

4. Net increase in cash and cash equivalents pre-dividends, re-financing costs and bond buy-back. 

5. This announcement is being made without the approval of the Consortium. 

6. Included within cash and cash equivalents is restricted cash of £38m which is restricted for 

contractual or regulatory purposes.  

7. The statement that Trading EBITDA performance in FY21 is expected to be only slightly below that of 

the prior year constitutes a profit forecast for the purposes of Rule 28.1 of the Takeover Code (the 

“AA Profit Forecast”). 
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Business performance and strategic update 

Roadside 

 

Six months 
ended 

July 20 
(H1 21) 

 
Six months 

ended 
July 19 
(H1 20) 

Year ended 
Jan 20 
(FY20) 

Revenue (£m)1 395 412 829 

Trading EBITDA (£m)1 144 136 287 

Trading EBITDA margin (%)1 36.5 33.0 34.6 

Paid personal members (000s) 3,150 3,190 3,215 

Average income per paid personal members (new) (£)2 164 164 166 

Average income per paid personal members (old) (£)2 167 165 165 

Business customers (000s) 8,918 8,994 9,048 

Average income per business customer (£) 23 22 22 

Number of breakdowns (000s) 1,438 1,648 3,423 

 
1      During the year and reflecting the way that the Group will be managed going forwards, the Group has determined that its AA Cars business should be included within the 

Insurance segment, having previously been included in the Roadside segment. This has been reflected in the analysis of segmental performance and corresponding 

comparatives. 

2     The average income per paid personal member under the old basis is represented as a proportion of closing paid personal membership holdings.  The average income 

per paid personal member under the new basis is represented as a proportion of the average paid personal membership holdings over the relevant period. 

 

Revenue fell by 4.1% in the period to £395m due to the impact of COVID-19 on our smaller Roadside 

businesses.  Our core Roadside business continues to deliver a solid performance. 

Trading EBITDA was up 5.9% to £144m and the Trading EBITDA margin was up 10.6% to 36.5%, 

reflecting the operational resilience of our core Roadside business and our ability to act swiftly to 

protect profitability during the lockdown. 

 

Roadside 

Business-to-consumer 

In line with our expectations, the paid membership base fell by 2.0% during the first half to 3,150k (H1 20: 

3,190k, FY20: 3,215k) with the customer retention rate flat at 80% (H1 20: 80%, FY20: 80%).  This was due to 

the early impact of the lockdown restrictions in March which limited driving on Britain’s roads and led to an 

initial decline in new business volumes.  Following the gradual lifting of the lockdown restrictions in June and 

our recently launched above the line marketing campaign in July, we have seen a steady improvement in new 

business volumes and expect progressive recovery to continue into H2.  Both new business volumes and 

customer retention rates are currently at near normal levels.     

During the period, we revised the basis of the calculation of the average income per paid member to reflect the 
average income earned from the paid membership base over the last 12 months as a proportion of the 
average paid personal membership holdings as opposed to the closing paid membership holdings on which it 
was previously calculated.  This results in a flat average income per paid member of £164 as at 31 July 2020 
compared to last year (H1 20: £164, FY20: £166).  The figure has fallen by 1.2% since year end due to the 
initial impact of the lockdown restrictions which led to fewer motorists driving and as a consequence fewer new 
member sales across our digital and call-centre channels.  Our cross-sell channels, however, continue to 
perform strongly, in particular through our Insurance business and represent an increasing proportion of our 
member base.  European Breakdown Cover revenue also fell in the period due to the lockdown travel 
restrictions.  Under the previous measure, the average income per paid member increased by 1.2% since year 
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end to £167, reflecting the lower paid membership holding as at 31 July 2020 compared to year end which 
more than offset the reduction to the average income outlined above. 

 

Business-to-business 

Within our B2B business, we successfully retained or extended all our key contracts due for renewal in the first 

half, including Porsche, Hyundai, Jaguar Land Rover and Honda.  As expected, total business customers fell 

in the period to 8,918k (H1 20: 8,994k, FY20: 9,048k) due largely to the effect of a significant reduction in new 

car registrations as a result of COVID-19.  Average income per business customer was up 4.5% to £23 (H1 

20: £22, FY20: £22) reflecting the lower customer holdings as well as the benefit of higher pay-for-use income 

and additional income generated from the broad range of additional services that we provided during the 

lockdown. 

During the period we continued to deliver ground breaking and unique digital services to our customers in B2B 

with the launch of SPARX in collaboration with ARC, our European partner.  SPARX is an integrated digital 

network connecting the leading European roadside assistance clubs.  This platform enables the real time 

transfer of breakdown information between breakdown clubs meaning customers can track and report a 

breakdown digitally across the whole of Europe (cross border).  We also launched our digital mobility service 

which enables a patrol to identify and book a replacement (rental) vehicle from an app on their phone 

providing a quick seamless roadside experience for customers in the event a car cannot be repaired at the 

roadside.  

Other business lines 

With limited driving on Britain’s roads and a number of independent garages closed during the lockdown, the 

roll-out of our consumer Service, Maintenance and Repair (SMR) proposition (Smart Care) was adversely 

impacted.  Notwithstanding this, we continued to press ahead with our Smart Care product development plans 

which included the launch of a consumer collection and delivery option, digital authorisation for additional work 

and an enhanced journey.  We provided additional B2B support throughout lockdown in areas where the 

preferred SMR provider was unavailable and as a result successfully signed a number of new B2B SMR 

contracts in the first half and have seen increased volumes from the existing customer base.  We now redirect 

all SMR work for our Driving Schools business through our platform and into our network which will improve 

driving instructor retention levels and promote cross-sell opportunities.  Following the easing of the lockdown 

in June, we have reinitiated our web-based marketing offers and member benefits offers for Smart Care, and 

are also moving ahead with our plans to expand our network of certified garages, and have recently welcomed 

our 500th garage partner. 

Our Driving Schools and DriveTech businesses were severely impacted by the lockdown restrictions under 

COVID-19 and in aggregate revenue declined by 35.5% to £20m (H1 20: £31m).   

Driving Schools was particularly hard hit as we elected to waive franchise fees for instructors for 14 weeks to 

support them during the lockdown.  On 4 July, the Government announced that driving lessons could restart 

again in England which was a welcome relief for thousands of pupils and instructors.  

As expected with fewer people driving and as a consequence fewer speed awareness courses, our DriveTech 

business generated significantly lower revenues in the period.  Despite this, DriveTech was the first to provide 

comprehensive online speeding courses as an alternative to class-based learning and in total delivered 

117,230 online courses in the period.  As the lockdown restrictions have eased we have started to see a 

steady increase in police referral volumes for courses as more people take to the road.   
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COVID-19 response 
 
The AA is a much-loved, long-standing and trusted British brand and our response at the start of the COVID-
19 outbreak was to act decisively and step up at a time when the UK needed us most.   
 

Within ten days of the lockdown we provided free breakdown assistance to all NHS workers travelling to and 
from work.  Over the 3-month campaign, we helped over 8,000 NHS workers at the roadside and reached 
more than 30m people with our offer of support, receiving overwhelmingly positive feedback from the NHS, the 
general public and politicians alike.  
 
Throughout lockdown we provided breakdown cover to ambulance services, new ambulance commissioning 
support, logistical support moving ambulances across the UK, management infill support and on-site vehicle 
servicing and maintenance to several ambulance services.  Most notably, we directly supported the London 
Ambulance Service with over 200 of our people, helping to keep over 500 ambulances on the road throughout 
the lockdown period and beyond.  
  
We were also able to provide a range of additional services and support to our B2B partners to ensure their 
customers were able to remain operational and on the road.  Most motor manufacturers extended their 
warranty periods through the lockdown giving customers peace of mind.  However, with numerous dealerships 
and garages closed we were able to step-in and work closely with our partners to provide customers with the 
additional warranty repair support allowing their customers to stay mobile.  We also launched a key worker 
initiative with free breakdown cover during the pandemic for all Toyota and Lexus customers.  Additionally, for 
Lloyds Banking Group we extended free Home Start cover to their customers for the month of June as people 
started to get back on the road.   
 
In our Driving Schools business, we waived franchise fees for a period of 14 weeks to support our Driving 
Instructors and under the internal mantra of #ProudToKeepBritainMoving, we were also one of the first 
companies to get behind the initial Channel 4 #ClapForOurCarers campaign.  
 
We remain committed to serving the needs of our customers during this challenging time.  With an already 
established and highly refined homeworking capability in place for our call centre workers, we were able to 
scale this model at pace to transition the vast majority of our colleagues to homeworking within two weeks.  
During this transition period, we were proud to have maintained good customer service levels.  We introduced 
new digital contact capabilities to ensure we were always there for customers and we made temporary 
adjustments to our policies and processes to support customers facing financial hardship.  
 
As the lockdown restrictions gradually began to lift, and more of the British public began thinking about local 
journeys and staycations, we launched a new marketing campaign called ‘That Feeling’, tapping into the mood 
of the nation and a universal desire to return to the freedom of driving.  The campaign has received an 
exceptionally positive response and contributed to an increase in new member volumes in the latter half of H1.   
 
To minimise the impact of COVID-19 on trading, we executed a number of operational and financial changes 
to our business that resulted in the deferral and reduction of a range of operating costs across the Group 
including: no pay rises, a general hiring freeze, a 15% reduction in pay for all Board members for three 
months, and tight cost control across the business. The Group also applied for the Government’s furlough 
scheme for those parts of our business where it has been necessary for us to adjust to reduced levels of 
workload.   

 
Product and Service Innovation 

We continue to make good progress with our pipeline of innovative products and services to differentiate the 

AA and enable us to target a broader base of UK drivers. 

The roll-out of Smart Breakdown, our premium connected car offering, was affected by lockdown.  Despite 

this, over 10,000 new and existing customers have Smart Breakdown and we are encouraged by the take up 

rates in our digital channels.  Looking ahead, we will continue to build the base of new and existing customers 

who are connected through Smart Breakdown, whilst continually refining and optimising the customer 

experience.   

During the first half of FY21, 16% of all breakdowns (both personal and business) were reported fully through 

our digital channels with no call handling intervention.  This is up from 11% at year end as a result of the 
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introduction of a digital reporting service for Lloyds customers via the app and web.  Customers are also able 

to track and cancel their breakdowns online, with 44% of all national breakdowns touching our digital channels 

in some way.   

Our app also remains central to our future plans.  Approximately 753,000 unique users accessed the app on a 

monthly basis during the first half, of which around 62% were returning users and 38% were new.  This is 7% 

up from the same period last year.  Approximately 62% of members have registered for the app to date, up 

from 60% at year end.  

Customer Service and Operations 

The AA continues to deliver best-in-class customer service and in June 2020 we were pleased to have 

achieved the top place for breakdown cover in an assessment by independent consumer champion Which?  

This was the third year running we have been endorsed as the top provider.  We also won the top six places 

for the second year running for best manufacturer breakdown cover.  This is a strong validation of our 

business model and the outstanding customer service delivery we provide to all our B2C and B2B customers.  

During the period, we also won the UK Business Awards for the Most Customer Centric Organisation, heading 

off competition from a number of leading industry players across a range of sectors.  Like the Which? 

accolade, this is an incredible achievement and a testament to the hard work that our patrols, contact centre 

colleagues and support teams do, day-in-day-out to deliver outstanding customer service to our customers. 

Total breakdowns fell by 12.7% to 1,438k (H1 20: 1,648k) due to the reduced traffic on Britain’s roads.  This in 

turn meant that we incurred lower third-party garaging and patrol-related costs compared to last year.  Despite 

reduced breakdown volumes, there were a higher number of B2B related breakdowns as a higher proportion 

of business customers were driving during the lockdown.  As a result, overall pay-for-use income was up 

compared to last year.  Ancillary sales including battery sales were also significantly higher than last year as a 

considerable number of our members and customers experienced flat batteries due to their cars not being 

driven during the lockdown.  

Despite the operational challenges presented under lockdown, we were pleased to have delivered outstanding 

customer service in the period with overall call-to-arrive times excellent and averaging 44.5 minutes in the 

period, against our target of 45 minutes.  We responded to a majority of calls to our call centre in 20 seconds 

and our repair rates and average repair times were also strong and ahead of last year.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Ftheautomobileassociation.newsweaver.com%2Fone-shots%2F8aopwbpkq8d1doy11bw8ll%2Fexternal%3Femail%3Dtrue%26a%3D6%26p%3D5080633%26t%3D2130569&data=02%7C01%7CZeeshan.Maqbool%40TheAA.com%7Cc45402f5c0c84f290ed108d82a6985ee%7C52da6cebc43245d89cee97902996ced9%7C0%7C0%7C637305979989565976&sdata=u3%2B3efxkD72WsdLOEd9uN1bht7bneWBb8Rgpq06jRlo%3D&reserved=0
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Insurance 

Revenue 

 
Six months 

ended July 20 
(H1 21) 

Six months 
ended July 19 

(H1 20) 

Year ended  
Jan 20 (FY20) 

Revenue (£m)1 83 79 166 

Trading EBITDA (£m)1 29 29 63 

Trading EBITDA margin (%)1 34.9 36.7 38.0 

Total motor and home policy numbers in force2 (000s) 1,818 1,644 1,713 

Average income per policy including underwriter3 (£) 77 79 83 

Average income per policy excluding underwriter3 (£) 60 67 68 

Total Motor policies (000s) 966 803 869 

Total Motor policies underwritten (000s) 538 401 448 

Total Home policies (000s) 852 841 844 

Total Home policies underwritten (000s) 358 304 332 

Financial Services products4 (000s) 96 159 90 

 

1      During the year and reflecting the way that the Group will be managed going forwards, the Group has determined that its AA Cars business should be included within the 

Insurance segment, having previously been included in the Roadside segment. This has been reflected in the analysis of segmental performance and corresponding 

comparatives. 

2      Total Motor and Home policies sold in the last 12 months by our insurance broker. 

3      Motor and Home only.  

4      Financial Services products includes the number of loans drawn down and savings accounts opened. 

 

The Insurance division delivered continued growth and remained resilient during COVID-19 with 

Insurance revenue up 5.1% to £83m (H1 20: £79m).  This was driven by the strong performance of our 

new Accident Assist business which more than offset the anticipated decline in commissions due to 

ongoing investment in marketing and our decision to absorb costs to help our customers during the 

lockdown.  

Trading EBITDA was flat at £29m, however, in line with expectations, the Trading EBITDA margin 

declined from 36.7% to 34.9%, as we continue to invest in accelerating the growth in policies of the 

broker and in-house underwriter, leveraging our strong brand, large distribution platform and 

proprietary data to deliver future value and Trading EBITDA growth. 

 

Insurance broking and financial services 

Revenue was steady in the period at £68m (H1 20: £68m) with the strong performance of our new Accident 

Assist business offsetting the anticipated decline in commissions due to ongoing investment in marketing, our 

decision to absorb costs to help our customers during the lockdown as well as low trading activity in our AA 

Cars business.  The motor policy book grew by 11.2% during the period to 966,000 policies (H1 20: 803,000, 

FY20: 869,000) and the home book grew by 0.9% to 852,000 (H1 20: 841,000, FY20: 844,000), reflecting the 

continued growth of our in-house underwriter as well as the benefit of ongoing investment in pricing systems to 

enhance the competitiveness of the broker.   

Our in-house underwriter currently underwrites more than half of the total motor policy book and close to half 

of the total home policy book.  This in combination with ongoing improvements in our customer journey are 

helping to deliver consistent and healthy cross-sell conversions into our Roadside business with 35% of new 

insurance customers taking Roadside membership up from 30% this time last year and 33% at year end. 
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The ongoing investment in acquiring new business volumes, which have a lower average commission 

compared with the rest of the book, and our decision to help our customers during the COVID-19 outbreak 

through reduction in administrative and processing fees led the average income per motor and home policy to 

fall to £77 (H1 20: £79, FY20: £83). 

Renewal rates have remained broadly steady and our claims costs, which are limited to our in-house 

underwriter, have been tracking in line with the broader market and were lower due to motorists driving less 

during the lockdown.   

Accident Assist, our recently launched in-house claims management proposition, is performing well, and, 

following the implementation of a new claims handling platform from ICE InsureTech and the consolidation of 

all our claims operations into Royal Tunbridge Wells in the period, we are starting to see positive momentum 

building.  We have now completed the roll-out of this new capability across all our motor insurance panel 

members ahead of schedule and are planning to incorporate the Accident Assist service benefits to all our 

members from Q1 next year.     

In March, we were pleased to have extended our Financial Services Distribution Agreement with Bank of 

Ireland UK by three years to at least 2028.  As part of the agreement, our partnership now includes AA 

branded car finance products to sit alongside savings and loans products.   

During the period, we reclassified AA Cars, our online used car platform with a growing financial service 

offering, into our Insurance segment.  As expected, AA Cars suffered from significantly low demand during the 

period, however, the business is showing encouraging progress with significant increases in car viewings, 

vehicle inspections and car finance applications and conversions thus far in the second half of the year.   

 

Insurance underwriting 

Revenue for our Insurance underwriting business grew strongly in the period to £15m compared with £11m 

last year. Gross earned premiums were £51m (H1 20: £29m), while the respective figure for gross written 

premiums (gross of co-insurance arrangements) was £73m (H1 20: £53m).  Deferral of broker commissions 

amounted to a reduction in revenue of £0.2m (H1 20: £2m).  Revenue is reported after accounting for the 

broker deferral adjustment, where the broker commission is recognised over the life of the policy along with 

the underwriter premium for policies underwritten by our in-house underwriter.  

Our in-house underwriter continues to grow rapidly and benefit from our strength of brand, distribution scale 

and proprietary members data to deliver competitive premiums.  During the period, we grew the motor book by 

20.1% from 448,000 to 538,000, driven largely by our non-member channel which sold 242,000 policies and 

the underwritten home book also grew strongly by 7.8% from 332,000 to 358,000.  Our underwritten portfolio 

currently represents 56% of the total motor policy book and 42% of total home policy book.   

Our combined operating ratio was in line with our long-term target of 95%.  We achieved stable rates of 

retention across our motor and home policies book and our claims costs are tracking in line with the broader 

market and were £6m compared to £4m in the prior period.   

In line with expectations, Trading EBITDA was up £2m at £7m (H1 20: £5m) reflecting the solid growth in the 

period. 

The in-house underwriter business remains well capitalised under the Solvency II capital requirements.  As at 

31 July 2020, the solvency coverage headroom was 67% over requirement and can be funded from the profits 

of the underwriter and AA plc available cash. 
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Financial review 

Group revenue 

 Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 

 July 20 (H1 21) July 19 (H1 20) Jan 20 (FY20) 

Revenue (£m)  478 491 995 

Trading EBITDA1 (£m) 173 165 350 

Trading EBITDA2 margin (%) 36.2 33.6 35.2 

Operating profit (£m) 121 120 257 

Free cash flow3 (£m) 21 44 83 

Adjusted basic earnings per share4 (pence) 6.7 6.0 14.1 
 

Notes 
1. Earnings before net finance costs, tax, depreciation, amortisation, adjusting operating items, share-based payments 

and pension service charge adjustment. 
2. Trading EBITDA divided by revenue arising within operating segments.  
3. Net increase in cash and cash equivalents pre-dividends, re-financing costs and bond buy-back 
4. Earnings per share adjusted for a number of one-offs of which the largest are adjusting operating items, share-based 

payments, pension service charge adjustment, the write off of debt issue fees and penalties on early repayment of debt. 

 
 

Profitable growth underpinned by strong operational delivery 
 
Group revenue was £478m, down 2.6% on last year (H1 20: £491m), a strong performance given the impact of 
COVID-19 and a testament to the resilient nature of our operating model. 
 
The Roadside division delivered a robust performance during the first half, however, as expected, the lockdown 
restrictions led to a slight decline in B2C income as well as significantly reduced income from our smaller 
Roadside businesses such as Driving Schools and DriveTech.  While some of this was offset by growth in B2B 
income, overall Roadside revenue was down 4.1% at £395m (H1 20: £412m). 
 
Insurance revenue was up 5.1% from last year at £83m (H1 20: £79m), driven by the strong performance of our 
Accident Assist business which more than offset the lower expected revenues from the broker, due to our 
ongoing investment in marketing to accelerate the growth in policies. 
 
Group Trading EBITDA was up 4.8% to £173m (H1 20: £165m), reflecting the resilience of our core businesses 
and our ability to act swiftly and decisively to manage our costs and protect profitability following the COVID-19 
outbreak.  Roadside Trading EBITDA increased by £8m to £144m which included the benefit of reduced 
workload to third-party garaging and patrol related costs as well as the deferral of above the line marketing 
spend into the second half.  Insurance Trading EBITDA was flat in the period at £29m (H1 20: £29m), a result of 
our ongoing investment in marketing to accelerate the growth in policies of the broker.  
 

Looking ahead, COVID-19 continues to create uncertainty in the macro environment and the Group remains 

cautious about the second half of the year.  However, given the benefit of the actions already taken in H1 and 

our flexibility to adjust to further changes in trading, the Group reiterates its previous expectations of delivering 

a robust performance in FY21 (year ending 31 January 2021), only slightly below that of the prior year. 

Trading EBITDA margin improved by 7.7% to 36.2% (H1 20: 33.6%) with improved Roadside Trading EBITDA 
margins due to the cost initiatives and reduced workload mentioned above offsetting the anticipated reduction in 
Insurance Trading EBITDA margins. 
 
As previously announced, as part of our agreement to close the CARE section of the UK defined pension 
scheme to future accrual, we agreed to an enhancement in the defined contribution scheme contributions for the 
affected employees which will cost £11m over three years starting 1 April 2020.  Of this amount, £3m has been 
incurred in H1 21 and is shown within adjusting operating items.  
 
Operating profit was up £1m in the period at £121m (H1 20: £120m).  This was due to a £8m increase in Trading 
EBITDA and a £1m decrease in share-based payments, partially offset by additional adjusting operating items of 
£2m (which included £3m emergency IT related costs due to COVID-19 offset by £6m furlough support from the 
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Government (see note 4)) and a £6m increase in amortisation and depreciation charges reflecting the historic 
and ongoing investments in IT.   
 
Net finance costs increased by £17m to £95m (H1 20: £78m) resulting from early repayment penalties and 
transaction costs of £11m as well as a £9m write-off of unamortised issue costs related to the February 2020 
refinancing of £325m Class A5 notes in exchange for Class A8 notes.   
  
On account of the above, profit before tax fell in the period to £26m (H1 20: £42m), a reduction of 38.1%. 
 
The tax charge in the period decreased to £5m (H1 20: £8m) reflecting the lower profitability.  The tax charge 
consisted of a current tax charge of £4m (H1 20: £7m) and a deferred tax charge of £1m (H1 20: £1m).  The 
effective tax rate was flat compared to the prior period at 19.2% (H1 20: 19.2%).   
 
Profit after tax fell to £21m (H1 20: £34m) and basic earnings per share reduced by 2.1p, from 5.5p to 3.4p.  
Adjusted profit after tax and adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share increased to £41m (H1 20: £37m), 
6.7p (H1 20: 6.0p) and 6.7p (H1 20: 6.0p) respectively reflecting higher Trading EBITDA offset by higher 
amortisation and depreciation (see note 3). 

 
Reduction in pension liabilities 
 
The decrease in the defined benefit pension deficit during the period is primarily the result of Group 
contributions paid towards the deficit, as well as strong asset returns offsetting the impact of the decrease in 
corporate bond yields and corresponding fall in discount rates. 
 
In February 2020, the triennial actuarial review was completed for the AAUK pension scheme as at 31 March 
2019.  This resulted in a significant reduction to the technical provisions deficit of 64.2% from £366m as at 31 
March 2016 to £131m.  The agreed recovery plan with the Pension trustees aims to eliminate the technical 
provisions deficit by July 2025.  The Group has committed to paying an additional (above the Asset-Backed 
Funding scheme payments) £10m per annum from April 2020 to March 2021, £11m per annum from April 
2021 to March 2022 and £12m per annum from April 2022 to July 2025.  From 1 February 2020, the trustee 
has also met its own costs of running the scheme.  As a result of our actions, we expect to make around £6m 
in annual cash savings relative to the previous agreement. 
 
On 18 March 2020, we concluded our 60-day pension consultation with around 2,800 members through their 
union/management representatives in respect of our proposal to close the CARE section of the AAUK defined 
benefit pension scheme.  Closure of the scheme took effect from 31 March 2020 and protects against the 
ongoing build-up of defined benefit risk for the Group and reduces the pension cash costs by c.£4m per 
annum.  The consultation has resulted in an enhancement to the defined contribution scheme being agreed for 
affected employees which will cost £11m over three years starting from 1 April 2020 (see note 20). 
 

Balance sheet management  
 
We remain well within our financial covenants, have good levels of liquidity and are generating positive free cash 
flow.   
 
Free cash flow was £21m in the period compared to £44m last year.  The figure was lower due to a number of 
reasons including a working capital outflow of £6m in the period. This outflow was partly caused by the impact of 
COVID-19 on cash receipts and also included a payment made in respect of the extension of our Financial 
Services Distribution Agreement with Bank of Ireland as noted above.  The comparable figure last year was an 
inflow of £19m.  The free cash flow figure was also impacted by higher tax payments in the period reflecting the 
change to the timing of corporation tax payments mandated by HMRC as well as higher interest paid on 
borrowings of £70m compared to £65m last year following the February 2020 refinancing. 
 
As at 31 July 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of £166m (see note 14) together with an available 
Working Capital Facility of £60m, of which £56m remains undrawn at the period end.  Net Debt in the period fell 
from £2,645m to £2,628m leaving net liabilities of £1,562m (H1 20: £1,696m, FY20: £1,581m).   
 
Capex was lower in the period at £30m (H1 20: £37m) reflecting timing of project spend, reduction in labour 
costs and re-prioritisation of IT maintenance spend due to COVID-19.  Lease expenditure net of proceeds from 
the sale of fixed assets was £13m (H1 20: £9m). 
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In February 2020, we completed the exchange offer of £325m of Class A5 notes with new Class A8 notes at 
5.5% interest rate. 
 
On 31 July 2020, the Group completed the refinancing of the remaining £200m Class A3 notes through its 
drawn £200m Senior Term Facility.  As part of the Senior Term Facility draw down in April 2020, S&P Global 
Ratings confirmed the credit rating of the Class A notes at BBB-. 
 

Dividend 
 
As announced with the full year results, consistent with the Group’s approach to managing its capital structure, 
the Board has decided to suspend the interim dividend payment this year. 
 

Outlook 

 
Looking ahead, COVID-19 continues to create uncertainty in the macro environment and the Group remains 
cautious about the second half of the year.  However, given the benefit of the actions already taken in H1 and 
our flexibility to adjust to further changes in trading, the Group reiterates its previous expectations of delivering a 
robust performance in FY21 (year ending 31 January 2021), only slightly below that of the prior year.  This 
confidence in our performance reflects our resilient business model both in Trading EBITDA performance and in 
positive recurring cash generation. 
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Financial key performance indicators 
 

The following tables and narrative provide further analysis of the financial key performance indicators which 
are described in the financial highlights on page 1, the business performance and financial reviews on pages 6 
to 14, the debt covenant calculations on page 16 and the figures shown in notes 2, 3, 4 and 8 to these 
condensed, consolidated financial statements.   
 

Adjusted performance measures 
 

These interim accounts report results and performance both on a statutory and non-GAAP (non-statutory) 
basis.  The Group’s adjusted performance measures are non-GAAP (non-statutory) financial measures and 
are included in these interim accounts as they are key financial measures used by management to evaluate 
performance of business segments.  The measures enable investors to more easily and consistently track the 
underlying operational performance of the Group and its business segments.   Some of the measures are also 
required under our debt documents for debt covenant calculations.   
 

Reconciliation of Trading EBITDA to operating profit 
 
Trading EBITDA is a performance measure required under the terms of our debt documents and is used for 
calculating our debt covenants.  The Group also shows Trading EBITDA as a measure of underlying trading 
performance.  Trading EBITDA is calculated as operating profit before adjustments as shown in the table 
below: 
 

 Note 

Six 
months 

ended 
July 2020 

£m 

Six 
months 
ended 

July 2019 
£m 

Trading EBITDA 3 173 165 

Share-based payments  (1) (2) 

Pension service charge adjustment  (2) (2) 

Amortisation and depreciation 9,10,11 (47) (41) 

Adjusting operating items 4 (2) - 

Operating profit  121 120 

 

In the current period, adjusting operating items comprised £3m related to the closure costs of the CARE 
section of the AAUK pension scheme and the transitional agreement made with employees in that scheme, 
£2m related to strategic review projects, a £2m loss on disposal of subsidiaries (see note 5), a £1m 
impairment of investments in joint ventures and £3m related to emergency IT expenditure incurred setting up 
home working due to the COVID-19 pandemic, offset by £6m related to government furlough support in 
respect of COVID-19, a £2m release of a provision for conduct and regulatory costs and a £1m profit on 
disposal of non-current assets. 

 
Adjusted earnings per share 
 
Adjusted earnings per share adjusts profit after tax for items that are one-off in nature or relate to transactions 
that do not form part of the ongoing performance of the Group; see note 3 for the calculation.   
 
Adjusted profit before tax is included as a non-GAAP measure as it is used by management to evaluate 
performance and by investors to more easily and consistently track the underlying performance of the Group.  
Adjusted earnings per share is calculated as adjusted profit after tax divided by the weighted average number of 
shares in issue during the period.     
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Cash flow, Net Debt and liquidity 
 

 
1 Principal amounts of the Senior Term Facility and Class A notes less AA Intermediate Co Limited group cash and cash equivalents. 
2 The lease obligations for covenant reporting value is presented based on frozen GAAP pre-IFRS 16, as required by the debt documents.  
The figure above is therefore different to the lease liabilities value shown in the statement of financial position.   
3 Net WBS debt represents the borrowings and cash balances within the WBS structure headed by AA Intermediate Co Limited.  This 
includes the principal amounts of the Senior Term Facility, Class A notes, Class B notes and lease obligations for covenant reporting less 
AA Intermediate Co Limited group cash and cash equivalents. 
4 Difference between lease obligations for covenant reporting based on frozen GAAP and the AA Intermediate Co Limited group lease 
liabilities value included in the statement of financial position having adopted IFRS 16 from 1 February 2019. 
5 Total lease obligations for the Group excluding the value reported as the AA Intermediate Co Limited group lease obligations. 
6 Total cash and cash equivalents for the Group excluding the value reported as the AA Intermediate Co Limited group cash and cash 
equivalents. 
7 AA Intermediate Co Limited group Trading EBITDA as required by the debt documents based on frozen GAAP. 
8 Ratio of Net Debt to AA plc Trading EBITDA for the last 12 months. 
9 Ratio of net WBS debt3 to AA Intermediate Co Limited group Trading EBITDA for the last 12 months7. 
10 Ratio of Net Senior Secured Debt1 to AA Intermediate Co Limited group Trading EBITDA for the last 12 months7. 
11 Ratio of last 12 months free cash flow to proforma debt service relating to the Senior Term Facility and Class A notes.   
12 Ratio of last 12 months free cash flow to proforma debt service. 

 

Net Debt and covenants 

 

  As at  
31 July 

2020  

As at  
31 July  

2019 

 As at  
31 January  

2020 
    £m  £m  £m 
         

Senior Term Facility    200  -  - 

Class A notes     1,997  2,200  2,197 
Less: AA Intermediate Co Limited group cash and cash 

equivalents   
  

(101)  (71) 
 

(102) 

Net Senior Secured Debt1     2,096  2,129  2,095 

Class B2 notes     570  570  570 

Lease obligations for covenant reporting2    31  57  39 

Net WBS debt3     2,697  2,756  2,704 

IFRS 16 lease adjustment for WBS for lease obligations4    22  23  24 

AA plc group lease obligations5    3  3  3 

Class B2 notes repurchased by AA plc    (29)  (23)  (29) 

Less: AA plc group cash and cash equivalents6     (65)  (61)  (57) 

Net Debt     2,628  2,698  2,645 

         

Reconciliation to covenants         

Lease obligations for covenant reporting2    31  57  39 

IFRS 16 lease adjustment for WBS for lease obligations4    22  23  24 

AA plc group lease obligations5    3  3  3 

Total lease liabilities as reported in the statement of 
financial position  

  
56  83 

 
66 

         
AA plc Trading EBITDA for the last 12 months     358  345  350 

AA Intermediate Trading EBITDA for the last 12 months7    346  335  340 

         

  Covenant       
Net Debt ratio8    7.3x  7.8x  7.6x 

Class B2 leverage ratio9    7.8x  8.2x  8.0x 

Senior leverage ratio10    6.1x  6.4x  6.2x 

         
Class A free cash flow: debt service11  >1.35x  2.9x  2.9x  3.4x 

Class B free cash flow: debt service12  >1.00x  2.1x  2.1x  2.5x 
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Cash flow, Net Debt and liquidity (continued) 
 
Class A free cash flow to debt service was 2.9 times as at 31 July 2020 and Class B free cash flow to debt 
service was 2.1 times, showing substantial headroom over the covenants which are set out below. 
 
The cash within the ring-fenced group headed by AA Mid Co Limited is part of the whole business securitisation 
(WBS).  A dividend cannot be paid from the ring-fenced group until a number of criteria have been met.  These 
include: 

• Class A Free Cash Flow: Debt Service is above 1.35x 

• Class B Free Cash Flow: Debt Service is above 1.00x 

• The Senior Leverage ratio is less than 5.5x 

• Finance charges: Trading EBITDA is above 2x where finance charges relate to the ring-fenced group and 
are on a proforma basis based on the Group’s borrowings at the time of the test and exclude the 
amortisation of debt issue fees and net finance expense on defined benefit pension schemes 

• The Group is also subject to a maximum cumulative dividend payout related to the cumulative cash 
generation and cumulative net income since the WBS was established.  These calculations are adjusted for 
items required by the financing documents. 

 
The Group had a cash balance of £166m at 31 July 2020, of which £134m was invested in AAA money market 
funds, giving overnight access and high liquidity.  
 
The Group holds segregated funds as ‘restricted cash’ in order to satisfy regulatory requirements governing our 
insurance regulated business.  These restricted cash balances were £38m at 31 July 2020 (H1 20: £32m). 
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Principal risks and uncertainties  
 
The Group’s Principal Risks were detailed in the Annual Report 2020. The Board has reviewed these principal 
risks for material developments since the publication of the Annual Report 2020 and updates against each 
principal risk, including any significant changes that may impact the second half performance, are detailed in 
italics below: 
 
1. Debt leverage  

The risk that we are unable to manage our debt and the Group is unable to repay or refinance its debt at an 
acceptable price.  
 
Following the refinancing on 5 February 2020 and the drawdown of the STF (to enable the repayment of the 
Class A3 notes), we have £0.9bn of debt to refinance by 2022. Since our Annual Report, the current bond 
market continues to suggest that the debt would need to be refinanced at a higher interest rate than the 
current debt and will, as with previous refinancing, require cash resources to be allocated to the associated 
one-off costs of enabling these transactions.  
 
The Directors continue to believe that as long as the sterling bond markets have their usual liquidity and the 
investment grade rating of the Class A notes continues, there is a reasonable prospect that we will be able 
to refinance albeit at higher interest rates than the current interest rates. Modelling indicates that even at 
higher interest rates, the business remains cash generative and able to meet its interest and debt raising 
costs.   

 
2. Regulatory and legal environment 

The risk of a changing regulatory environment that may adversely affect our activities and/or material 
litigation against the AA: The changing regulatory environment could cause currently compliant services to 
become non-compliant, with material implications to customer offerings, pricing and profitability. Failure to 
comply with regulatory obligations could result in fines and reputational damage. Changes in government 
legislation or taxation could impact the business model. 
 
The insurance industry has seen significant activity from the FCA in the areas of pricing practices, vulnerable 
customers, affordability in consumer credit and industry COVID-19 responses. The AA has continued to 
work collaboratively with the FCA in responding to the “Dear CEO” letters and data requests sent out to 
intermediaries and insurers and has been proactive in advising the FCA of any issues identified during the 
course of the year, none of which have been material. The FCA’s Pricing Practices Consultation Paper was 
released on 22 September 2020, outlining proposed remedies to support effective competition and lead to 
good consumer outcomes. There are a number of proposals including requirements to ensure renewal 
prices offered are no higher than the equivalent new business price as well as requiring firms to assess fair 
value of the products they sell. We welcome the FCA’s proposals and agree with the importance of delivering 
good outcomes to customers.  
 

3. Outstanding service 
The risk that we are unable to maintain an outstanding service: The AA’s brand and its continued success, 
and in particular the loyalty of its customers, relies on delivering outstanding service that is superior to the 
rest of the market. Inadequate investment in technology, systems, people and processes would place this 
objective at increasing risk. 
 
We have continued to invest in our contact centre agents, increased the flexibility of the patrol force and 
improved our planning and delay related forecasting to ensure we are better placed to respond to extreme 
weather events. In June 2020 we were pleased to have come top of the table for breakdown cover again by 
independent consumer champion Which? We were also proud to have been endorsed as a Which? 
Recommended Provider for breakdown cover for the third year running and to have won the top six places 
for the second year running for best manufacturer breakdown cover provider, a strong validation of our 
business model and the outstanding customer service delivery we provide to our OEM partners. 
 
Due to lower traffic levels during lockdown, overall call-to-arrive times were excellent and were below our 
target of 45 minutes. We responded to a majority of calls to our call centre in 20 seconds and our repair 
rates and average repair times were also strong and ahead of last year. 
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4. Roadside market share and margin 
The risk that we are unable to maintain our market share and an ability to command a price premium on our 
roadside services: Competitors that provide roadside services at a lower price or have a different business 
model, together with changes in car technology, threaten our market share. If we charge a price premium 
that is above that which our service can sustain, we will not grow our member or B2B customer base and, 
in the long-term, sustainably grow profits. We need to improve, innovate, demonstrate and deliver a superior 
proposition and ensure our pricing is competitive relative to this position. We also need to ensure our pricing 
practices are in line with the expectations of our customers and regulators. 

 

We continue to improve our roadside membership proposition by strengthening our roadside product 

offerings and engaging more members in additional benefits. We have improved our communications with 

both new and existing members, engaging members in their existing services and benefits to drive loyalty. 

Our pricing team has significant expertise to monitor market pricing levels and ensure that we are treating 

both new and loyal customers fairly while remaining competitive. 

Personal paid membership fell slightly as a result of COVID-19. This was due to the early impact of the 

lockdown restrictions in March which limited driving on Britain’s roads and led to an initial sharp decline in 

new member volumes.  Following the gradual lifting of the lockdown restrictions in June and our recently 

launched above the line marketing campaign in July, we have seen a steady pick-up in new member 

volumes and expect progressive recovery to continue into H2. In respect of our B2B business, we retained 

or extended all key contracts in the period. There is still uncertainty in respect of the long-term COVID-19 

impact to the business, especially should there be a prolonged period of recurring waves.  

5. Insurance broking  
The risk that we are unable to achieve desired margin, remain competitive and achieve our growth and 
profitability objectives. 
 
Despite the initial COVID-19 impact to new business volumes, the insurance broker delivered a robust 
performance in the period with growth in motor and home policies. There remains uncertainty in respect of 
the long-term COVID-19 impact to the business, both with ourselves, as well as our panel insurers. The 
FCA’s Pricing Practices Consultation Paper was released on 22 September 2020, outlining proposed 
remedies to support effective competition and lead to good consumer outcomes. There are a number of 
proposals including requirements to ensure renewal prices offered are no higher than the equivalent new 
business price as well as requiring firms to assess fair value of the products they sell. We welcome the 
FCA’s proposals and agree with the importance of delivering good outcomes to customers.  

 
6. Insurance underwriting  

The risk of higher than anticipated claims costs: there are risks of higher than expected claims frequency, 
higher average cost per claim or catastrophic claims. 
 
We remain on track to deliver growth with sustainable and profitable return on capital. We continually monitor 
claims frequency and trends and adjust pricing in the event of higher than expected claims frequency or 
cost per claim. We also analyse root causes of these and take appropriate action. Catastrophic claims are, 
in part, mitigated through reinsurance. There is still uncertainty in respect of the long-term COVID-19 impact 
to the business, especially should there be a prolonged period of recurring waves. 
 

7. Business & IT transformation 

The risk that we are unable to successfully complete essential business transformation:  We must continue 

to transform the AA to achieve the required efficient customer-centric services and to develop the business. 
Although much has been achieved in recent years there remains much to do and the required improvements 
to processes, embedded ways of working and culture, inherently involves risks in a customer facing service 
environment.   

 
We have continued to improve our technology, data and digital capabilities to enable improved customer 
and employee experience and drive sustained benefits.  We are executing against a disciplined programme 
of capital investment and continue to review timelines and priorities as part of the execution of our declared 
strategy. As part of our COVID-19 response, some of these activities were brought forward to enable us to 
successfully move some staff to a home working environment.  
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8. Information security/cybercrime/data breach 
The risk that we are unable to protect ourselves from a significant data breach or cyber security incident: 
The integrity of critical information is corrupted, resulting in it not being available where and when it is 
needed, or the confidentiality of commercially sensitive, private or customer information is compromised by 
inappropriate disclosure or a serious data breach occurs. 
 
Cybercrime continues to present a significant risk to the AA. We continue to invest in our information security 
programme to manage and mitigate these risks which has delivered significant improvements on 
technology, data, colleague and third-party supplier risks. A high level of focus will continue in order to 
reduce the risk, but the risk remains high. 
 

9. Health and safety  
We must continue to effectively manage the risks to the safety of our workforce and customers and ensure 
that effective controls are deployed to achieve this. Accountability to take action is essential in this as is 
oversight, review and embracing continual improvement. 
 
The AA continues to strive to maintain a safe environment for employees and members. As part of our 
COVID-19 response the AA continues to follow government guidance in our operations, both internally for 
our staff as well as externally to our members to minimise risk to all parties. As a result of our response, we 
have and will continue to incur additional costs (such as PPE and additional resources within offices) to 
maintain safe systems of work in line with government guidance.   
 

10. Pensions  
The Company has a large defined benefit (DB) pension scheme, currently in deficit, whose assets and 
obligations are subject to future variation from investment returns, longevity and other similar factors. 
 

We continue to execute the recovery plan agreed with the trustees in March 2019 and continue to assume 
that the deficit will be fully repaid by July 2025. The Group has recently been informed by the trustee of the 
AA UK Pension Scheme (AAUK scheme) of a possible need to review the AAUK scheme’s approach to 
“equalising” certain pension benefits earned before 1 April 1992, so that the benefits earned by male and 
female members are equal. A detailed legal analysis will be needed to determine whether any additional 
liabilities need to be recognised by the Group before this can be appropriately assessed. The CARE section 
of the AAUK scheme has now been closed, and from April 2020 pension accrual is now on a defined 
contribution basis with transitional arrangements for affected employees over a 3 year period from 1 April 
2020.  

 
COVID-19 

 
The COVID-19 pandemic continues to have material impact within the UK and internationally. During the first 
half of FY21, our immediate focus was on operational risks, with several changes to working practices 
implemented, including home working to ensure the safety of our employees and customers. As the pandemic 
progressed, we took additional steps to manage any potential conduct risks and ensure customer vulnerability 
was identified and appropriate measures put in place. We continue to monitor our activities to ensure that the 
risks and issues posed by COVID-19 on the business are appropriately addressed; however, as the pandemic 
progresses, particularly with a risk of a second and subsequent waves, direct and indirect effects may continue 
to have an adverse impact on our operations. 

 
The risks listed above do not comprise all those associated with the AA and are not set out in any order 
of priority.  Additional risks and uncertainties, not presently known to management or currently deemed 
to be less material, may also have an adverse effect on the business.  The Group’s risk profile will evolve 
as mitigating activities succeed in reducing the net risks over time, or as new risks emerge. 

  



AA plc  
Interim report for the six months ended 31 July 2020 

 
 

 

21 
 

 

 

Consolidated income statement  

 

 

Earnings per share from the profit for the period: 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated income statement.   

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Note 

Six 
months 

ended  
July 2020 

£m 

Six  
months 
ended  

July 2019 
£m 

Revenue 2 478 491 

Cost of sales  (180) (192) 

Gross profit  298 299 

Administrative and marketing expenses  (177) (180) 

Other income  - 1 

Operating profit  121 120 

Finance costs 6  (95) (78) 

Profit before tax   26 42 

Tax expense 7 (5) (8) 

Profit for the period  21 34 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Note 

Six 
months 

ended  
July 2020 

pence 

Six  
months 
ended  

July 2019 
pence 

Basic from total operations  8 3.4 5.5 

Diluted from total operations  8 3.4 5.5 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income  

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Note 

Six 
months 

ended  
July 2020 

£m 

Six  
months 
ended  

July 2019 
£m 

Profit for the period  21 34 

Other comprehensive income on items that may be reclassified to the 
income statement in subsequent years 

   

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges  (1) - 

  (1) - 

Other comprehensive income on items that will not be reclassified to 
the income statement in subsequent years 

   

Remeasurement losses on defined benefit schemes 20 - (41) 

Tax effect  - 7 

  - (34) 

Total other comprehensive income  (1) (34) 

Total comprehensive income for the period  20 - 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of comprehensive income.   
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Consolidated statement of financial position  

 

 
Note 

July  
2020 

£m 

July  
2019 

£m 

January 
2020 

£m 

Non-current assets     

Goodwill and other intangible assets 9 1,352 1,345 1,354 

Property, plant and equipment 10 49 55 52 

Right-of-use assets 11 59 80 69 

Investments in joint ventures and associates  5 5 5 

Derivative financial instruments  19 - 1 - 

Financial assets at amortised cost 12 4 24 4 

Deferred tax assets  9 28 9 

  1,478 1,538 1,493 

Current assets     

Inventories  4 4 4 

Trade and other receivables 13 274 237 257 

Cash and cash equivalents 14 166 132 149 

  444 373 410 

Assets classified as held for sale  - - 12 

Total assets  1,922 1,911 1,915 

     

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 15 (510) (485) (495) 

Current tax payable  - (6) (8) 

Borrowings and loans 17 - (200) (200) 

Lease liabilities  (20) (46) (23) 

Provisions 16 (4) (2) (5) 

  (534) (739) (731) 

Non-current liabilities     

Borrowings and loans 17 (2,716) (2,530) (2,506) 

Derivative financial instruments 19 (4) (1) (2) 

Lease liabilities  (36) (37) (43) 

Defined benefit pension scheme liabilities 20 (150) (251) (162) 

Provisions 16 (6) (4) (6) 

Deferred consideration 15 - (10) - 

Insurance technical provisions  (38) (35) (43) 

  (2,950) (2,868) (2,762) 

Liabilities classified as held for sale  - - (3) 

Total liabilities  (3,484) (3,607) (3,496) 

Net liabilities  (1,562) (1,696) (1,581) 

 
Equity  

    

Share capital  1 1 1 

Share premium  411 409 410 

Own shares  (24) (32) (33) 

Cash flow hedge reserve  (3) - (2) 

Retained earnings  (1,947) (2,074) (1,957) 

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  (1,562) (1,696) (1,581) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of financial position.   
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity  
 

 

Share 
capital 

£m 

Share 
premium 

£m 

Own 
shares 

£m 

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 
£m 

Retained 
earnings 

£m 
Total 

£m 

At 1 February 2019 1 408 (31) - (2,068) (1,690) 

Profit for the period - - - - 34 34 

Other comprehensive 
income - - - - (34) (34) 

Total comprehensive 
income 

- - - - - - 

Dividends - - - - (8) (8) 

Issue of share capital - 1 - - - 1 

Purchase of own shares - - (1) - - (1) 

Share-based payments - - - - 2 2 

At 31 July 2019 1 409 (32) - (2,074) (1,696) 

 

At 1 February 2020 1 410 (33) (2) (1,957) (1,581) 

Profit for the period - - - - 21 21 

Other comprehensive 
income - - - (1) - (1) 

Total comprehensive 
income 

- - - (1) 21 20 

Issue of share capital - 1 - - - 1 

Purchase of own shares - - (3) - - (3) 

Settlement of share 
schemes 

- - 12 - (12) - 

Share-based payments - - - - 1 1 

At 31 July 2020 1 411 (24) (3) (1,947) (1,562) 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of changes in equity.   
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Note 

 Six  
months 

ended  
July 2020 

£m 

Six  
months  
ended  

July 2019 
£m 

Profit before tax    26 42 
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment 9, 10, 11  47 41 
Net finance costs 6  95 78 
Difference between pension charge and cash 

contributions 
 

 
(11) (11) 

Other adjustments to profit before tax   3 (1) 
Working capital and provisions:     
Increase in trade and other receivables   (18) (14) 
Increase in trade and other payables   18 28 
(Decrease)/increase in provisions   (6) 5 

Total working capital and provisions adjustments   (6) 19 

Net cash flows from operating activities before tax   154 168 

Tax paid   (13) (4) 

Net cash flows from operating activities   141 164 

Investing activities     

Capital expenditure   (30) (37) 
Payment for financial asset at amortised cost   - (20) 
Payment for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash 

acquired 
 

 
(1) (8) 

Investment in joint venture   (1) - 
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, net of cash sold   (2) - 
Interest received   - 1 

Net cash flows used in investing activities   (34) (64) 

Financing activities     

Proceeds from borrowings   525 15 
Issue costs on borrowings   (8) - 
Debt repayment premium and penalties   (6) - 
Repayment of borrowings   (525) (15) 

Refinancing transactions   (14) - 

Interest paid on borrowings   (70) (65) 
Acquisition of own shares   (2) - 
Lease capital repayments net of proceeds from sale of 

fixed assets  
 

 
(13) (9) 

Payment of lease interest    (1) (2) 
Dividends paid   - (8) 

Net cash flows from financing activities   (100) (84) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   7 16 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period 

 
 

159 116 

Cash and cash equivalents  14  166 132 

The cash flows from operating activities are stated net of cash outflows relating to adjusting operating items of 
£2m (2019: £2m).  These items comprised £3m related to the closure costs of the CARE section of the AAUK 
pension scheme and the transitional agreement made with employees in that scheme (2019: £nil), costs of 
strategic initiatives of £2m (2019: £1m), conduct and regulatory costs of £nil (2019: £1m) and £3m related to 
emergency IT expenditure incurred setting up home working due to the COVID-19 pandemic (2019: £nil), 
offset by £6m related to government furlough support in respect of COVID-19 (2019: £nil). 

Other adjustments to profit before tax relate to share-based payments of £1m (2019: £2m), loss on sale of 
non-current assets £2m (2019: profit of £2m) and other income of £nil (2019: £1m). 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of cash flows.   
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1 Basis of preparation 
 

a) Accounting policies 

The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Accounting Standard 34 ‘Interim Financial Reporting’ (IAS 34) and the Financial 
Conduct Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules.  Accordingly, they do not include all the information 
and disclosures required in the annual financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the Group’s 
annual financial statements as at 31 January 2020.   

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the interim condensed consolidated financial statements 
are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31 January 2020 which were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and have been applied consistently across all periods.   

These financial statements do not constitute statutory accounts within the meaning of Section 435 of the 
Companies Act 2006.  Statutory accounts for the year to 31 January 2020 were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 6 May 2020 and delivered to the Registrar of Companies.  The report of the auditors on those 
accounts was unqualified and did not contain any statement under Section 498 of the Companies Act 2006.   

b) Going concern 

The Group’s operations are cash generative with a large proportion of its revenues coming from recurring 
transactions. The significant customer loyalty demonstrated by high renewal rates and lengthy customer 
tenure underpins this and, in addition to the cash balances at the reporting date, the Group has agreed 
undrawn credit facilities. 

On 4 August 2020, it was announced that the Group was in preliminary discussions with a number of parties in 
relation to a potential offer for the Group.  Discussions have been progressed with TowerBrook Capital 
Partners (U.K.) LLP and Warburg Pincus International LLC (together the "Consortium") and the deadline for 
the Consortium to either announce a firm intention to make an offer or announce that it does not intend to 
make an offer was today extended to 27 October 2020.  The Takeover Code requires in the event of a firm 
offer that an offeror must provide details of the debt facilities or other instruments entered into in order to 
finance the offer and to refinance the existing debt or working capital facilities of the offeree company.  

There can be no certainty that any offer will be made for the Company, nor as to the terms on which any offer 
might be made. In the event that no offer is made, there are no debt maturities falling due within the going 
concern period of 12 months from the date of these financial statements. 

The Group's longer-term viability depends upon the key assumption that the Group can refinance its debt on 
its various expected maturity dates (see note 18) at an affordable interest rate with associated one-off costs. 
The majority of the Group’s borrowings are long term in nature.  The first maturities of the Group's facilities 
and bonds are £372m Class A5 notes on 31 January 2022 and £570m Class B2 notes on 31 July 2022 (of 
which £29m is held directly by AA plc), respectively 16 and 22 months from the date of approval of these 
interim condensed financial statements. The Directors continue to believe that as long as the sterling bond 
markets have their usual liquidity and the investment grade rating of the Class A notes continues, there is a 
reasonable prospect that we will be able to refinance albeit at higher interest rates than the current interest 
rates.  In addition, the Directors would expect to refinance these borrowings in advance of their respective due 
dates as the Group has access to a number of refinancing opportunities including bond issues, bank 
borrowings and repayments from existing cash resources.  As with previous refinancings, this will require cash 
resources to be allocated to the associated one-off costs of enabling these transactions.    



AA plc  
Interim report for the six months ended 31 July 2020 

 

Notes to the financial statements  

27 
 

 

 

1 Basis of preparation (continued) 

b) Going concern (continued) 

The Class A notes are currently rated as BBB- and this rating was reconfirmed as part of the Senior Term Facility 
drawdown in April 2020. The Directors have evaluated a downside scenario comprising a downgrade in Class 
A ratings below BBB-.  There is no immediate operational or financial impact on the business in the event of 
such a downgrade.  There would be no restriction on the Group’s ability to refinance any maturing Class A notes 
through the issue of new Class A debt although this is likely to be at a higher interest rate depending on prevailing 
market conditions.  The Group, in such a ratings downgrade scenario, will be restricted in its ability to issue new 
Class B notes within the WBS structure and accordingly will be required to raise capital outside the WBS to 
refinance the Class B2 notes that mature in July 2022.  In the event that such capital is not capable of being 
raised by the maturity date, the Group would enter into negotiations with its Class B2 noteholders.  In the event 
that the WBS group was unable to refinance or repay any of its borrowings falling due in 2022, then the relevant 
bondholders could enforce their security in accordance with the security trust and intercreditor deed, which in 
the case of the Class B bondholders includes a share pledge over the holding company of the WBS group. This 
security does not cover the Group’s insurance underwriting activities. 

The Directors have considered these points along with the projected cash flows, for a period of one year from 
the date of approval of these interim condensed financial statements and have concluded that the Group has 
sufficient funds to continue trading for this period.  Additionally, no borrowings are due within 12 months from 
the date of approval of these interim condensed financial statements.  Therefore, the interim condensed financial 
statements have been prepared using the going concern basis. 

c) Alternative performance measures 

The nature of the Group’s operations means that for management’s decision making and internal performance 
management the key performance metric is earnings before net finance costs, tax, adjusting operating items, 
share-based payments, pension service charge adjustment, depreciation and amortisation (referred to as 
Trading EBITDA, see note 3). 

d) Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The principal estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying value amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period are consistent with those 
disclosed in the financial statements for the year ended 31 January 2020.
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2 Segmental information and revenue disaggregation 

The Group has two key segments – Roadside and Insurance.  Head Office costs have been allocated to these 
two key segments as these costs principally directly support the operations of these segments.  Head Office 
costs are predominately allocated on a percentage of revenue basis.  

The two reportable operating segments are as follows: 

• Roadside: This segment is the largest part of the AA business. The AA provides a nationwide service, 
sending patrols out to members stranded at the side of the road, repairing their vehicles where possible 
and getting them back on their way quickly and safely. In addition, this segment includes the AA and BSM 
driving schools and DriveTech which provides driver training and educative programmes. 

• Insurance: This segment includes the insurance brokerage activities of the AA, primarily in arranging 
motor and home insurance for customers and its intermediary financial services business. This segment 
also includes the insurance underwriting and reinsurance activities of the AA.  

During the year and reflecting the way that the Group will be managed going forwards, the Group has 
determined that its AA Cars business should be included within the Insurance segment, having previously 
been included in the Roadside segment. This has been reflected in the below analysis of segmental 
performance and corresponding comparatives. 

 

 
 
 

 

Six  
months 

ended  
July 2020 

£m 

Six  
months  
ended  

July 2019* 
£m 

Revenue   

Roadside  395  412  

Insurance  83  79  

Revenue 478 491 

   

Trading EBITDA   

Roadside  144  136  

Insurance  29  29  

Trading EBITDA 173 165 

   

Share-based payments (1) (2) 

Pension service charge adjustment  (2) (2) 

Amortisation and depreciation  (47) (41) 

Operating profit before adjusting operating items  123 120 

Adjusting operating items   (2) - 

Operating profit 121 120 

Net finance costs  (95) (78) 

Profit before tax  26 42 

 

All segments operate principally in the UK.  Revenue by destination is not materially different from revenue by 
origin. 

Segment performance is primarily evaluated using the Group’s key performance measures of revenue and 
Trading EBITDA as well as operating profit before adjusting operating items.  

Adjusting operating items, net finance costs and tax expense are not allocated to individual segments as they 
are managed on a group basis. Segmental information is not presented for items in the statement of financial 
position as management does not view this information on a segmental basis. 
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2  Segmental information and revenue disaggregation (continued) 

 

Operating profit before adjusting operating items Roadside Insurance 

 

Six  
months 

ended  
July 2020 

£m 

Six  
months 
ended  

July 2019* 
£m 

Six  
months 

ended  
July 2020 

£m 

Six  
months 
ended  

July 2019* 
£m 

Trading EBITDA 144 136 29 29 

Share-based payments (1) (1) - (1) 

Pension service charge adjustment (2) (2) - - 

Amortisation and depreciation (41) (37) (6) (4) 

Operating profit before adjusting operating items 100 96 23 24 

 

Disaggregation of revenue: 

 
 
 

 

 Six 
months 

ended 
July 2020 

£m 

Six 
months 
ended 

July 2019* 
£m 

Roadside:    

Consumer (B2C)     

Insured contracts  235 241 

Pay for use contracts1  25 23 

Business Services (B2B)    

Insured contracts  19 19 

Pay for use contracts1  84 81 

Roadside other*  32 48 

Total Roadside   395 412 

Insurance:    

Brokering activities*  60 59 

Insurance Underwriting  15 11 

Insurance other*  8 9 

Total Insurance  83 79 

Total revenue  478 491 

1 Pay for use contracts relate to contracts that take into account the volume of breakdowns.   

 

*Insurance other now comprises the Group’s AA Cars and Financial Services businesses, which were previously 
included in Roadside other and Insurance brokering activities respectively. This will better reflect the nature of 
their products and the way that the Group will be managed going forwards. The segmental analysis and revenue 
disaggregation figures for the six months ended July 2019 have been restated to reflect this change. 
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3 Adjusted performance measures 
 
These financial statements report results and performance both on a statutory and non-GAAP (non-statutory) 
basis.  The Group’s adjusted performance measures are non-GAAP (non-statutory) financial measures and 
are included in these financial statements as they are key financial measures used by management to 
evaluate performance of business segments.  The measures enable investors to more easily and consistently 
track the underlying operational performance of the Group and its business segments.   Some of the 
measures are also required under our debt documents for debt covenant calculations.   

Trading EBITDA is profit after tax on a continuing basis as reported, adjusted for depreciation, amortisation, 
adjusting operating items, share-based payments, pension service charge adjustment, net finance costs and tax 
expense.  

The pension service charge adjustment relates to the difference between the cash contributions to the pension 
scheme for ongoing contributions and the calculated annual service costs. 
 
Reconciliation of Trading EBITDA to operating profit 
 
Trading EBITDA is calculated as operating profit before adjustments as shown in the table below: 
 

 

Trading EBITDA excludes discontinued operations and the effects of significant items of income and 
expenditure which may have an impact on the quality of earnings, such as restructuring costs, legal expenses 
and impairments when the impairment is the result of an isolated, non-recurring event. It also excludes the 
effects of share-based payments, defined benefit pension service charge adjustment, amortisation, 
depreciation and unrealised gains or losses on financial instruments.  
 
These specific adjustments are made between the GAAP measure of operating profit and the non-GAAP 
measure of Trading EBITDA because Trading EBITDA is a performance measure required and clearly defined 
under the terms of our debt documents and is used for calculating our debt covenants.  Given the significance 
of the Group debt, Trading EBITDA is a key measure for our bondholders and therefore management.  In 
addition, the Group shows Trading EBITDA to enable investors and management to more easily and 
consistently track the underlying operational performance of the Group and its business segments. 
 
  

 Note  

Six months 
ended 

July 2020 
£m 

Six months 
ended 

July 2019 
£m 

Trading EBITDA 2  173 165 

Share-based payments   (1) (2) 

Pension service charge adjustment   (2) (2) 

Amortisation and depreciation 9, 10, 11  (47) (41) 

Adjusting operating items 4  (2) - 

Operating profit   121 120 



AA plc  
Interim report for the six months ended 31 July 2020 

 

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

31 
 

 

 

3 Adjusted performance measures (continued) 

Adjusted earnings per share 
 
Adjusted earnings per share adjusts profit after tax for items that are one-off in nature or relate to transactions 
that do not form part of the ongoing performance of the Group.   
 
Adjusted profit before tax is included as a non-GAAP measure as it is used by management to evaluate 
performance and by investors to more easily and consistently track the underlying performance of the Group.  
Adjusted earnings per share is calculated as adjusted profit after tax divided by the weighted average number 
of shares in issue during the period. 
 

  
Six months 

ended 
July 2020 

Six months 
ended 

July 2019 

Profit after tax as reported (£m)  21 34 

Adjusted for:    

Adjusting operating items (see note 4) (£m)  2 - 

Share-based payments (£m)  1 2 

Pension service charge adjustment (£m)  2 2 

Adjusting finance costs (see note 6) (£m)  20 - 

Tax expense (see note 7) (£m)  5 8 

Adjusted profit before tax (£m)  51 46 

Tax at the effective rate of 19.2% (July 2019: 19.2%) (£m)  (10) (9) 

Adjusted profit after tax (£m)  41 37 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (millions)  611 614 

Adjusted basic earnings per share (pence)  6.7 6.0 

Weighted average number of diluted ordinary shares (millions)  615 614 

Adjusted diluted earnings per share (pence)  6.7 6.0 

 
4 Adjusting operating items  
 

 Six months 
ended 

July 2020 
£m 

Six months 
ended 

July 2019 
£m 

Adjusting operating items 2 - 

In the current period, adjusting operating items comprised £3m related to the closure costs of the CARE 
section of the AAUK pension scheme and the transitional agreement made with employees in that scheme, 
£2m related to strategic review projects, a £2m loss on disposal of subsidiaries (see note 5), a £1m 
impairment of investments in joint ventures and £3m related to emergency IT expenditure incurred setting up 
home working due to the COVID-19 pandemic, offset by £6m related to government furlough support in 
respect of COVID-19, a £2m release of a provision for conduct and regulatory costs and a £1m profit on 
disposal of non-current assets. 

As noted above, we have separately identified the incremental costs directly attributable to COVID-19 and the 
credit received from government furlough support, within adjusting operating items. The trading effects from 
COVID-19 are reflected within Trading EBITDA. 

In the prior period, adjusting operating items comprised £1m related to strategic review projects and £1m 
related to conduct and regulatory costs, offset by a £2m profit on disposal of non-current assets. 

Costs from the current period refinancing in February 2020 were directly attributable to the issue and 
repayment of loan notes and have therefore been included either in finance costs or in borrowings as debt 
issue fees (see notes 6 and 18).  
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5 Business combinations  

Acquisitions during the period ended 31 July 2020 

There were no acquisitions during the period ended 31 July 2020. 

Acquisitions during the year ended 31 January 2020 

On 1 February 2019, the Group completed the purchase of the entire share capital of Prestige Motor Care 
Holdings Limited and its three wholly owned subsidiaries Prestige Fleet Servicing Limited, Prestige Car 
Servicing Limited and Prestige Motor Care Limited for cash consideration of £11m. 

On acquisition, assets and liabilities acquired included £3m cash and £2m trade and other payables. Goodwill 
of £10m was initially recognised but was subsequently reallocated within the permitted measurement period, 
comprising additions of £11m to customer relationships, £1m to software and £2m to deferred tax liabilities. At 
the point of acquisition, the combined fair value of net assets acquired was therefore £11m, which resulted in 
£nil goodwill being recognised. The net outflow of cash to acquire these subsidiaries was £8m. 

Prestige Motor Care Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries generated a combined revenue of £18m for the year 
ended 31 January 2020. 

Disposals during the period ended 31 July 2020 

On 21 May 2020, the Group completed the sale of the entire share capital of AA Reinsurance Company 
Limited, AA Underwriting Limited and Automobile Association Underwriting Services Limited for cash 
consideration of £6m. The combined net book value of net assets disposed of was £8m, which resulted in a 
£2m loss on disposal being recognised. The net outflow of cash to dispose of these subsidiaries was £2m. 

The assets and liabilities disposed of had been presented as held for sale at 31 January 2020. 

Disposals during the year ended 31 January 2020 

On 29 March 2019, the Group completed the sale of 51% of the share capital of AA Media Limited. 
 
6 Finance costs 
 

 

Six 
months 

ended 
July 2020 

£m 

Six 
months 
ended 

July 2019 
£m 

Interest on external borrowings 69 65 

Finance charges payable on lease liabilities 1 3 

Total ongoing cash finance costs 70 68 

Ongoing amortisation of debt issue fees 4 7 

Fair value movement on interest rate swaps 1 - 

Net finance expense on defined benefit pension schemes - 3 

Total ongoing non-cash finance costs 5 10 

Early repayment penalty 6 - 

Debt issue fees immediately written off following repayment of borrowings 5 - 

Total adjusting cash finance costs  11 - 

Unamortised debt issue fees written off following repayment of borrowings 9 - 

Total adjusting non-cash finance costs 9 - 

Total finance costs 95 78 

 

During the current period, the Group issued £325m of Class A8 notes in exchange for £325m of Class A5 
notes (see note 18). As a result, the Group incurred adjusting finance costs associated with this refinancing of 
£20m, consisting of £6m of exchange premium, £5m of transaction fees and a £9m write-off of unamortised 
issue fees associated with the Class A5 notes.  
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7 Tax 
 
The major components of the income tax expense are: 
 

 
 
 

Six 
months 

ended 
July 2020 

£m 

Six 
months 
ended 

July 2019 
£m 

Consolidated income statement    

Current income tax   

Current income tax charge 4 7 

 4 7 

Deferred tax   

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences – current year 1 1 

 1 1 

Tax charge in the income statement at an effective rate of 19.2% (July 
2019: 19.2%) 

5 8 

 
Tax for the period has been calculated by applying the forecast effective tax rate for the full year to the profit 
before tax result for the period.   
 
The effective tax rate remains consistent with the prior period. The UK corporation tax rate was expected to 
reduce from 19% to 17% on 1 April 2020 and therefore deferred tax was recognised at a rate of 17% as at 31 
January 2020. The March 2020 budget announced that the reduction in tax rate would be cancelled and the 
19% rate retained after 1 April 2020. Retaining the 19% rate has resulted in a restatement of the deferred tax 
asset to 19% which has been offset by permanent differences in the tax computation relating to company 
disposals, share-based payments and corporate interest restriction. 
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8 Earnings per share 
 

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the period attributable to ordinary 
shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.   

 

Six  
months 

ended  
July 2020 

Six  
months 
ended  

July 2019 

Basic earnings per share:   

Profit after tax (£m) 21 34 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (millions) 611 614 

Basic earnings per share (pence) 3.4 5.5 

 

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares is adjusted to assume 
conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary shares. 

Under the Group’s Employee Share Incentive Plan, shares are purchased monthly at market value and 
therefore any dilution is immediately accounted for in the earnings per share. In addition, matching shares are 
issued monthly and placed into trust therefore any dilution is immediately accounted for in the earnings per 
share and the issue of matching shares has no further dilutive effect. As at 31 July 2020, there are no 
outstanding shares to be issued under these schemes that are potentially dilutive. 

As at 31 July 2020, the Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) 2019 and Insurance Long Term Bonus Plan 
(‘Insurance LTBP’) share schemes are considered to be potentially dilutive and are included in the diluted 
earnings per share below. There are no further classes of share that we believe will have a material dilutive 
impact as at 31 July 2020.  

  

Six  
months 

ended 
July 2020 

Six  
months 
ended  

July 2019 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (millions)  611 614 

Potentially dilutive shares (millions)  4 - 

Weighted average number of diluted ordinary shares (millions)  615 614 

Diluted earnings per share (pence)  3.4 5.5 
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9 Goodwill and other intangible assets 

  
 

 
 

Goodwill 
£m 

 
Customer 

relationships 
£m  

 
 

Software 
£m 

 
 

Total 
£m 

Cost      

At 1 February 2019 1,197 - 257 1,454 

Additions 10 - 25 35 

Disposals - - (8) (8) 

At 31 July 2019 1,207 - 274 1,481 

     

At 1 February 2020 1,197 11 301 1,509 

Additions - - 27 27 

Reclassification - - (2) (2) 

Disposals - - (37) (37) 

At 31 July 2020 1,197 11 289 1,497 

     

Amortisation and impairment     

At 1 February 2019 27 - 96 123 

Amortisation  - - 20 20 

Disposals - - (7) (7) 

At 31 July 2019 27 - 109 136 

     

At 1 February 2020 27 1 127 155 

Amortisation  - 1 26 27 

Disposals - - (37) (37) 

At 31 July 2020 27 2 116 145 

     

Net book value      

At 31 July 2020 1,170 9 173 1,352 

At 31 July 2019 1,180 - 165 1,345 

At 31 January 2020 1,170 10 174 1,354 

 
On 1 February 2019, the Group completed the purchase of the entire share capital of Prestige Motor Care 
Holdings Limited and its three wholly owned subsidiaries Prestige Fleet Servicing Limited, Prestige Car 
Servicing Limited and Prestige Motor Care Limited (see note 5). At 31 July 2019, this had resulted in the initial 
recognition of £10m of goodwill. At 31 January 2020, this £10m goodwill had subsequently been reallocated to 
customer relationships, software and deferred tax balances within the permitted measurement period.  
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10 Property, plant and equipment 
 

 

 

Freehold land & 
buildings 

£m 

Buildings on long 
leasehold land 

£m 
Vehicles 

£m 

Plant & 
equipment 

£m 
Total 

£m 

Cost or valuation      

At 1 February 2019 24 12 113 86 235 

Adjustment for change in 
accounting policy  - - (111) (8) (119) 

At 1 February 2019 restated 24 12 2 78 116 

Additions  - - 1 5 6 

Reclassification - (5) - 5 - 

Disposals  - - - (1) (1) 

At 31 July 2019 24 7 3 87 121 

      

At 1 February 2020 24 7 4 80 115 

Additions  - - - 2 2 

Reclassification - - - 2 2 

Disposals  - - - (9) (9) 

At 31 July 2020 24 7 4 75 110 

      

Depreciation and impairment      

At 1 February 2019 8 4 47 53 112 

Adjustment for change in 
accounting policy  - - (45) (8) (53) 

At 1 February 2019 restated 8 4 2 45 59 

Charge for the period  1 - 1 6 8 

Disposals  - - - (1) (1) 

At 31 July 2019 9 4 3 50 66 

      

At 1 February 2020 9 4 4 46 63 

Charge for the period  1 - - 5 6 

Disposals  - - - (8) (8) 

At 31 July 2020 10 4 4 43 61 

      

Net book value       

At 31 July 2020 14 3 - 32 49 

At 31 July 2019 15 3 - 37 55 

At 31 January 2020 15 3 - 34 52 

 

Capital commitments 
 
Amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements amounted to £7m (July 2019: £11m, 
January 2020: £10m). 
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11 Right-of-use assets 

 

 
Property 

£m 
Vehicles 

£m 

Plant & 
equipment 

£m 
Total 

£m 

Cost or valuation     

At 1 February 2019 - - - - 

Adjustment for change in accounting policy 23 111 8 142 

At 1 February 2019 restated 23 111 8 142 

Additions  - 16 - 16 

Disposals - (27) - (27) 

At 31 July 2019 23 100 8 131 

     

At 1 February 2020 27 73 8 108 

Additions  - 4 - 4 

Disposals - (7) - (7) 

At 31 July 2020 27 70 8 105 

     

Depreciation and impairment     

At 1 February 2019 - - - - 

Adjustment for change in accounting policy - 45 8 53 

At 1 February 2019 restated - 45 8 53 

Charge for the period  1 12 - 13 

Disposals  - (15) - (15) 

At 31 July 2019 1 42 8 51 

     

At 1 February 2020 3 28 8 39 

Charge for the period  1 13 - 14 

Disposals  - (7) - (7) 

At 31 July 2020 4 34 8 46 

     

Net book value      

At 31 July 2020 23 36 - 59 

At 31 July 2019 22 58 - 80 

At 31 January 2020 24 45 - 69 
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12 Financial assets at amortised cost 

Financial assets at amortised cost include the following debt investments: 

 

 
 

July  
2020 

£m 

July  
2019 

£m 

January 
2020 

£m 

Loans to related parties 4 4 4 

Listed corporate debt - 20 - 

 4 24 4 

 
Loans to related parties comprises £4m of 5% fixed rate loan notes in issue from AA Media Limited to the 
Group. The Group accounts for its 49% shareholding in AA Media Limited as an investment in a joint venture. 
 
At 31 July 2019, listed corporate debt comprised £20m of repurchased Class B2 notes in AA Bond Co Limited. 
At 31 July 2020 and 31 January 2020, repurchased Class B2 notes were accounted for as a reduction to 
borrowings (see note 18). 
 
 
13 Trade and other receivables 

 

July  
2020 

£m 

July  
2019 

£m 

January 
2020 

£m 

Current    

Trade receivables 152 144 143 

Prepayments 27 21 24 

Contract assets 16 16 16 

Reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities 70 52 67 

Other receivables 9 4 7 

 274 237 257 
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14 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

July  
2020 

£m 

July  
2019 

£m 

January 
2020 

£m 

Ring-fenced cash at bank and in hand – available 101 63 62 

Ring-fenced cash at bank and in hand – restricted - 8 40 

Non ring-fenced cash at bank and in hand – available 27 37 27 

Non ring-fenced cash at bank and in hand – restricted 38 24 30 

Cash and cash equivalents as presented in consolidated 
statement of cash flows 

166 132 159 

Less: presented as assets held for sale - - (10) 

Cash and cash equivalents as presented in consolidated 
statement of financial position 

166 132 149 

 
Ring-fenced cash and cash equivalents relate to cash held within the WBS by AA Intermediate Co Limited and 
its subsidiaries.  Dividends can only be paid to AA plc when certain debt to Trading EBITDA and cash flow 
criteria are met.   
 
Restricted cash is cash which is subject to contractual or regulatory restrictions.  The Group has had restricted 
cash balances both inside and outside of the WBS ring-fence. Restricted cash includes £38m (July 2019: £32m, 
January 2020: £38m) held by and on behalf of the Group’s insurance businesses which are subject to contractual 
or regulatory restrictions, which generated £nil (July 2019: £1m) of other income. At 31 January 2020, restricted 
cash also included £32m held in a separate bank account due to a requirement under the terms of the Group’s 
debt documents (July 2019: £nil). The requirement is to deposit a calculated amount of ‘excess cash’ at the 
period end when within an ‘accumulation period’ (the 12 months before which any borrowings become due). 
This applied to the Class A3 notes which were due on 31 July 2020. On 31 July 2020, the Group completed the 
refinancing of the £200m outstanding Class A3 notes using the £200m proceeds from drawing down the Senior 
Term Facility (see note 18). Therefore, as it was no longer required, the excess cash was returned to available 
cash on 31 July 2020.  
 
 
15 Trade and other payables  

 
 

July  
2020 

£m 

July  
2019 

£m 

January 
2020 

£m 

Current    

Trade payables 118 114 112 

Other taxes and social security costs 26 14 29 

Accruals  62 63 59 

Deferred income 209 229 219 

Deferred consideration - - 1 

Provision for unearned premiums in insurance underwriting 60 37 46 

Other payables 35 28 29 

 510 485 495 

Non-current    

Deferred consideration - 10 - 
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16 Provisions 

 
 

July  
2020 

£m 

July  
2019 

£m 

January 
2020 

£m 

    

Property leases 4 4 3 

Other 6 2 8 

 10 6 11 

    

Current 4 2 5 

Non-current 6 4 6 

 10 6 11 

    

The property leases provision relates to dilapidations. 
 
At 31 January 2020, other provisions included £2m (2019: £2m) relating to anticipated compensation costs for 
poorly handled complaints. During the period to 31 July 2020, an in-depth review was completed and it was 
determined that this provision was not required, therefore £2m was released from other provisions. 
 
The remaining balance in other provisions of £6m (2019: £nil) relates to a reclassification of self-funded 
insurance liabilities from accruals to provisions, where the Group provides for the cost of certain claims made 
against it, for example motor vehicle accident damage and employer liability claims. 
 
During the period, total provisions of £3m were utilised (2019: £nil) and net additional provisions of £2m were 
made (2019: £nil). 
 
Litigation – Mr Mackenzie’s claim 
 
As reported previously, the former Executive Chairman, Bob Mackenzie, who was dismissed for gross 
misconduct on 1 August 2017, had on 6 March 2018 issued a claim for substantial damages against AA plc, 
its subsidiary (Automobile Association Developments Limited) (together, ‘the Companies’) and personally 
against a number of their directors (existing and former) and the former Company Secretary. 
 
In November 2018, Mr Mackenzie's claim against all the directors and the former Company Secretary was 
dismissed in full and he was ordered to pay their costs to be assessed by the Court if not agreed.  The majority 
of Mr Mackenzie’s claim arises from his exclusion from a share option scheme which, in any event, lapsed for 
all participants without any payment in June 2019. However, Mr Mackenzie has now issued an amended claim 
which includes a new claim for personal injury allegedly suffered as a result of stress arising from his role as 
CEO and Chairman. The Companies have filed a full defence in relation to Mr Mackenzie’s amended claim. 
After further discussion with external counsel the Companies decided to apply for a strike-out application in 
relation to the entirety of Mr Mackenzie’s claims against them. This application was filed in May 2020 and the 
Companies have been given a court date in March 2021 in respect of this. The Board assumes for the 
purpose of these financial statements that Mr Mackenzie will proceed with the claim against the Companies 
but maintains that it is not necessary for the Group to make a financial provision as it expects the defence will 
prevail. 
 
From time to time the Group is subject to other claims and potential litigation. At the time of these interim 
financial statements, the Directors do not consider any such claims and litigation to have other than a remote 
risk of resulting in any material liability to the Group.  
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17 Borrowings and loans 

 

 
 

July  
2020 

£m 

July  
2019 

£m 

January 
2020 

£m 

Current    

Borrowings (see note 18) - 200 200 

    

Non-current    

Borrowings (see note 18) 2,716 2,530 2,506 

 2,716 2,730 2,706 

 

 

18 Borrowings  
 

 

Expected 
maturity date 

Interest 
rate 

Principal 
£m 

Issue 
costs 

£m 

Amortised 
issue 
costs 

£m 

Total as  
at 31 July  

2020 
£m 

Total as  
at 31 July  

2019 
£m 

Total as at 
31 January 

2020 
£m 

Senior Term Facility 31 July 2023 2.72% 200 - - 200 - - 

Class A2 notes 31 July 2025 6.27% 500 (1) 1 500 500 500 

Class A3 notes 31 July 2020 4.25% - - - - 200 200 

Class A5 notes 
31 January 
2022 

2.88% 372 (25) 17 364 675 677 

Class A6 notes 31 July 2023 2.75% 250 (4) 2 248 247 248 

Class A7 notes 31 July 2024 4.88% 550 (8) 3 545 543 544 

Class A8 notes 31 July 2027 5.50% 325 (3) - 322 - - 

Class B2 notes 31 July 2022 5.50% 570 (16) 12 566 565 566 

  4.71% 2,767 (57) 35 2,745 2,730 2,735 

Class B2 notes Repurchased (5.50%) (29) 1 (1) (29) - (29) 

  4.71% 2,738 (56) 34 2,716 2,730 2,706 

 

The Senior Term Facility is subject to a variable interest rate of LIBOR plus a margin of 1.75% per annum. 
However, the Group has an interest rate swap in place which exchanges LIBOR for a fixed interest rate of 
0.97% thereby fixing the Senior Term Facility’s interest rate at 2.72% through to 31 July 2021. Thereafter, the 
Group has an interest rate cap in place which caps the variable interest rate at 1.00% through to 31 July 2023. 
 
At 31 July 2020 all other borrowings have fixed interest rates. The weighted average interest rate for all 
borrowings of 4.71% has been calculated using the effective interest rate and carrying values on 31 July 2020. 
 
On 5 February 2020, the Group issued £325m of Class A8 notes at an interest rate of 5.50% in exchange for 
£325m of Class A5 notes. £3m of new issue premium associated with the issue of the Class A8 notes was 
capitalised. In line with accounting for a substantial modification of a debt instrument under IFRS 9, costs of 
£20m associated with the issue of the Class A8 notes and the cancellation of the Class A5 notes were written 
off, consisting of £6m of exchange premium, £5m of transaction fees and £9m of unamortised issue costs 
associated with the Class A5 notes. 
 
On 23 April 2020, consistent with the Group’s proactive approach to debt management, the Group announced 
that it had drawn down in full its £200m Senior Term Facility early to de-risk ahead of the planned refinancing 
of the remaining £200m Class A3 notes which were due on 31 July 2020. 
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18 Borrowings (continued) 
 
On 31 July 2020, the Group completed the refinancing of the £200m outstanding Class A3 notes using the 
proceeds from the Senior Term Facility. 
 
At 31 July 2020, the Group holds £29m at principal value of repurchased Class B2 notes in AA Bond Co 
Limited (31 January 2020: £29m, 31 July 2019: £23m). At 31 July 2019 this was presented as a financial asset 
held at amortised cost (see note 12) but at 31 January 2020 and 31 July 2020 this was recognised as a 
reduction in borrowings and presented in a separate line in the above table. The asset is held by the Group 
outside of the WBS but is linked to the Class B2 notes shown above which are held by the Group within the 
WBS. The current restrictions of the WBS prevent the Class B2 notes from being purchased by an entity within 
the WBS and cancelled through settlement. 
 
In order to show the Group net borrowings, the notes and the issue costs have been offset.  Issue costs are 
shown net of any premium on the issue of borrowings.  Interest rate swaps are recognised in the statement of 
financial position at fair value at the period end (see notes 19 and 22).     
 
All of the Class A notes are secured by first ranking security in respect of the undertakings and assets of AA 
Intermediate Co Limited and its subsidiaries. The Class A facility security over the AA Intermediate Co Limited 
group’s assets ranks ahead of the Class B2 notes. The Class B2 notes have first ranking security over the 
assets of the immediate parent undertaking of the AA Intermediate Co Limited group, AA Mid Co Limited.  AA 
Mid Co Limited can only pay a dividend when certain Net Debt to Trading EBITDA and cash flow criteria are 
met.  
 
Any voluntary repayment of the Class B2 notes would have been made at a fixed premium until 31 July 2020 
after which there is no premium to pay on redemption. Any voluntary early repayments of the Class A notes 
would incur a make-whole payment of all interest due to expected maturity date, except the Class A5, Class 
A6, Class A7 and Class A8 notes which can be settled without penalty within three months, two months, three 
months and six months respectively of the expected maturity date.     
 
All of the Group loan notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange.   
  
In order to comply with the requirements of the Class A notes, the Group is required to maintain the Class A 
free cash flow to debt service ratio in excess of 1.35x. The actual Class A free cash flow to debt service ratio 
as at 31 July 2020 was 2.9x (2019: 2.9x). The Class B2 notes require the Group to maintain the Class B2 free 
cash flow to debt service ratio in excess of 1.0x. The actual Class B2 free cash flow to debt service ratio as at 
31 July 2020 was 2.1x (2019: 2.1x). 
 
The Class A notes only permit the release of cash providing the Senior Leverage ratio after payment is less 
than 5.5x and providing there is sufficient excess cash flow to cover the payment.  The actual Senior Leverage 
ratio at 31 July 2020 was 6.1x (2019: 6.4x). The Class B2 notes restrictions only permit the release of cash 
providing the Fixed Charge Coverage ratio after payment is more than 2:1 and providing that the aggregate 
payments do not exceed 50% of the accumulated consolidated net income. The actual Fixed Charge 
Coverage ratio at 31 July 2020 was 2.6x (2019: 2.6x). 
 
The Class A and Class B2 notes therefore place restrictions on the Group’s ability to upstream cash from the 
key trading companies to pay external dividends and finance activities unconstrained by the restrictions 
embedded in the debts. 
 
On 5 February 2020, S&P Global Ratings reaffirmed the credit rating of the Group’s Class A notes at BBB- 
and the Class B2 notes at B+. On 23 April 2020, as part of the Senior Term Facility drawdown process, the 
Group announced that S&P had again confirmed the credit rating on the Class A notes at BBB-. 
 
In addition to the Senior Term Facility, the Group has significant further liquidity available from £225m banking 
facilities, of which £221m remains undrawn at the period end. 
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19 Derivative financial instruments 

 

 
 

July  
2020 

£m 

July  
2019 

£m 

January 
2020 

£m 

Assets    

Forward fuel contracts  - 1 - 

    

Liabilities    

Interest rate swap derivatives (1) (1) - 

Forward fuel contracts (3) - (2) 

 (4) - (2) 

 
 
20 Defined benefit pension scheme liabilities  

The Group operates two funded defined benefit pension schemes: the AA UK Pension Scheme (AAUK) and 
the AA Ireland Pension Scheme (AAI).  The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the 
Group in independently administered funds.  The AAUK scheme has a closed final salary and a Career 
Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) section which was closed from 1 April 2020 following consultation with 
affected employees. All future pensions build-up from 1 April 2020 in the UK is now on a defined contribution 
basis. The CARE section provided for benefits to accrue on an average salary basis.  During the 2017 
financial year and following the sale of the Irish business by the Group, AA Corporation Limited, a UK 
subsidiary of the Group, became the sponsor of the AAI scheme. The Group also operates an unfunded post-
retirement Private Medical Plan (AAPMP), which is treated as a defined benefit scheme and is not open to 
new entrants. 

The AAUK scheme is governed by a corporate trustee whose board is currently composed of member-
nominated and Company-nominated directors. The AAI scheme is governed by a corporate trustee whose 
board is currently composed of Company-nominated directors of which some are also members of the 
scheme. For both pension schemes the Company-nominated directors include an independent director whom 
the trustee board directors have nominated as Chairman. The trustee of each scheme is responsible for 
paying members’ benefits and for investing scheme assets, which are legally separate from the Group. 

The AAUK and AAI schemes are subject to full actuarial valuations every three years using assumptions 
agreed between the trustee of each scheme and the Group. The purpose of this valuation is to design a 
funding plan to ensure that the pension scheme has sufficient assets available to meet the future payment of 
benefits to scheme members. 

The valuation of liabilities for funding purposes differs from the valuation for accounting purposes, mainly due 
to the different assumptions used and changes in market conditions between different valuation dates. For 
funding valuation purposes, the assumptions used to value the liabilities are agreed between the trustee and 
the Group with the discount rate, for example, being based on a bond yield plus a margin based on the 
assumed rate of return on scheme assets. For accounting valuation purposes, the assumptions used to value 
the liabilities are determined in accordance with IAS 19, with the discount rate, for example, being based on 
high-quality (AA rated) corporate bonds. 

The valuations have been based on a full assessment of the liabilities of the schemes which have been 
updated where appropriate to 31 July 2020 by independent qualified actuaries. 
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20 Defined benefit pension scheme liabilities (continued) 

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows: 

 

 
 

 

As at 31 July 2020 

AAUK 
£m 

AAI 
£m 

AAPMP 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Present value of the defined benefit obligation in 
respect of pension and healthcare plans 

(2,717) (65) (46) (2,828) 

Fair value of plan assets 2,628 50 - 2,678 

Deficit (89) (15) (46) (150) 

 

 
 

 

As at 31 July 2019 

AAUK 
£m 

AAI 
£m 

AAPMP 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Present value of the defined benefit obligation in 
respect of pension and healthcare plans 

(2,678) (63) (48) (2,789) 

Fair value of plan assets 2,489 49 - 2,538 

Deficit (189) (14) (48) (251) 

 

 

 

As at 31 January 2020 

AAUK 
£m 

AAI 
£m 

AAPMP 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Present value of the defined benefit obligation in 
respect of pension and healthcare plans 

(2,576) (61) (44) (2,681) 

Fair value of plan assets 2,472 47 - 2,519 

Deficit (104) (14) (44) (162) 

 
The decrease in the deficit during the period is primarily the result of Group contributions paid towards the 
deficit, as well as strong asset returns offsetting the impact of the decrease in corporate bond yields and 
corresponding fall in discount rates. 

In November 2013, the Group implemented an Asset-Backed Funding scheme which remains in place.  The 
Asset-Backed Funding scheme provides a long-term deficit reduction plan where the Group makes an annual 
deficit reduction contribution of £14m increasing annually with inflation, until October 2038 or until the AAUK 
scheme funding deficit is removed if earlier, secured on the Group’s brands. 

In February 2020, the actuarial triennial review for the AAUK pension scheme was completed as at 31 March 
2019.  This resulted in a significant reduction to the technical provisions deficit of 64% from £366m as at 31 
March 2016 to £131m.  Under the previous 2016 valuation, the recovery plan extended through to 2038 in 
respect of the Asset-Backed Funding element and to 2026 in respect of the Additional Funding element.  A 
new recovery plan has now been put in place and agreed with the trustee which assumes that the scheme’s 
technical deficit will be fully repaid by July 2025, which is 1 year earlier than previously planned in terms of the 
Additional Funding element and 13 years earlier in terms of the Asset-Backed Funding element. To do this, 
the Group has committed to paying an additional (above the Asset-Backed Funding scheme payments) £10m 
per annum from April 2020 to March 2021, £11m per annum from April 2021 to March 2022 and £12m per 
annum from April 2022 to July 2025.  From 1 February 2020, the trustee has also met its own costs of running 
the scheme. As a result, annual cash costs for the Group are expected to reduce by around £6m. 

Consultation on the closure of the CARE section of the AAUK pension scheme commenced on 18 January 
2020 through employee representatives and concluded on 18 March 2020. The Group had proposed that, 
from 1 April 2020, all future pension accrual would be on a defined contribution basis. Following a review of 
the feedback received during consultation, the Group has confirmed that the proposals will be implemented on 
a modified basis and future pension accrual will be on a defined contribution basis for all UK employees with 
transitional arrangements which will cost c.£11m over three years starting from 1 April 2020. 
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20 Defined benefit pension scheme liabilities (continued) 

The agreed transitional arrangements provide a valuable enhanced Group pension contribution over a three 
year period commencing 1 April 2020 available to all members who make a contribution of at least 4% of 
pensionable salary per year. Further enhancements to the Group pension contribution are also available 
during the transitional period to members willing to make higher contributions.   

On an ongoing basis, the regular (non-transitional) pension accrual costs for the affected members are 
expected to be c.£4m per year lower than the previous costs in the AAUK scheme as a result of the closure.  

In addition, without scheme closure the Group would have incurred increased pension accrual cash costs in 
relation to the CARE section of a further c.£5m per annum from 1 April 2020 (under the triennial valuation 
agreement). Closure also curtails the ongoing build-up of defined benefit risk for the Group. 

Following agreement of the 31 March 2019 triennial valuation in February 2020, as well as conclusion of the 
consultation on closure of the AAUK scheme to future accrual, the Group has a much clearer visibility over 
pension costs for at least the next three years (where finalisation of the 31 March 2022 triennial valuation 
would reasonably be expected). The ongoing volatility from accrual costs has been removed but future 
volatility of deficit costs does remain. The immediate impact of COVID-19 on the global financial markets 
means higher fluctuation of the funding level in the AAUK scheme, albeit partially mitigated by the de-risked 
investment strategy and high levels of hedging. Should these conditions persist at the time of the 2022 
triennial valuation then there is a risk that the contributions required from the Group could increase. 

Using an inflation assumption of 2.9% and a discount rate assumption of 1.3%, the present value of the future 
deficit reduction contributions has been calculated. Based on these assumptions, the Group expects the 
present value of deficit reduction contributions to exceed the IAS 19 deficit.  The Group notes that, in the event 
that a surplus emerges, it would have an unconditional right to a refund of the surplus assuming the gradual 
settlement of AAUK scheme liabilities over time until all members have left the scheme.   

The last triennial valuation for the AAI scheme was as at 31 December 2016, the result of which was an 
increase in the going concern deficit with the contribution level remaining the same.  The Group made deficit 
reduction contributions of £1m in the year ended 31 January 2020 and will continue to make annual deficit 
reduction contributions, increasing with inflation, until December 2023 or until an alternative agreement is 
signed with the AAI scheme trustee. The next triennial valuation of the AAI scheme will take place as at 31 
December 2019 and is currently ongoing. The results from the review are expected to be received in late 
2020. 

In total, the Group paid £4m in ongoing employer contributions until the closure of the AAUK scheme CARE 
section and is currently committed to pay £25m in deficit reduction employer contributions to its defined benefit 
plans (AAUK and AAI) in the year ending 31 January 2021. 

The Group has recently been informed by the trustee of the AAUK scheme of a possible need to review the 
scheme’s approach to “equalising” certain pension benefits earned before 1 April 1992, so that the benefits 
earned by male and female members are equal. This requirement, stemming from EU law, is common to most 
UK defined benefit pension schemes. In simple terms, this requires some pre-1992 pensions to be treated as 
if payable from a more generous age of 60, rather than the AAUK scheme’s normal retirement age of 65. 
Action was taken in 1992 to put in place a mechanism for equalisation of these benefits, but the trustee has 
raised questions about the effectiveness of the mechanism used. 

This is a highly technical matter that relates only to the benefits of members who joined certain sections of the 
AAUK scheme before 1 November 1987 and remained in service after 17 May 1990. At this early stage of our 
analysis we consider the scope of potentially impacted benefits to be limited to those accrued in the period 17 
May 1990 to 31 March 1992. A detailed legal analysis will be needed to determine whether any additional 
liabilities need to be recognised by the Group or whether the existing methods used by the AAUK scheme 
trustee to equalise benefits are in fact valid. Without this detailed analysis, as well as obtaining scheme 
information dating back to the 1990s, making a reliable estimate of the potential impact is extremely difficult 
due to the range of possible conclusions (including a scenario where no additional liability is recognised). 
Given the need for this extensive legal analysis and information collation, a reliable estimate is unavailable at 
this stage.   
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20 Defined benefit pension scheme liabilities (continued) 

Fair value of plan assets 

The table below shows the AAUK scheme assets split between those that have a quoted market price and those 
that are unquoted. 

The fair value of the AAUK scheme assets was as follows: 

 As at 31 July 2020 As at 31 July 2019 As at 31 January 2020 

 

 
Assets 
with a 

quoted 
market 

price 
£m 

 

 
Assets 

without 
a quoted 

market 
price 

£m 

 
Assets 
with a 

quoted 
market 

price 
£m 

 

 
Assets 

without a 
quoted 
market 

price 
£m 

 
Assets 
with a 

quoted 
market 

price 
£m 

 

 
Assets 

without a 
quoted 
market 

price 
£m 

Equities -  485 46  333 -  244 

Bonds/gilts 30  731 788  295 474  571 

Property 43  251 87  194 32  255 

Hedge funds 1  416 1  353 1  300 

Private equity -  60 16  25 -  44 

Cash/net current 

assets 
26  43 20  12 15  9 

Annuity policies -  542 -  319 -  527 

Total plan assets 100  2,528 958  1,531 522  1,950 

 

Approximately £32m of unquoted assets allocated to private equity and £8m of unquoted assets allocated to 
property have been measured at amortised cost rather than fair value.  

All assets of the AAUK scheme are held in unquoted pooled investment vehicles which invest in mixtures of 
quoted and unquoted funds. The above table displays the quoted and unquoted splits of the underlying 
investments. 
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20 Defined benefit pension scheme liabilities (continued) 

Pension plan assumptions 

The principal actuarial assumptions were as follows: 

 
 

AAUK and AAPMP 
 

 
AAI 

% 
July 
2020 

% 
 

July 
2019 

% 

January 
2020 

% 
 

July 
2020 

% 

July 
2019 

% 
 

January 
2020 

% 

Pensioner discount rate 1.3  2.0 1.6  0.6 0.4  0.3 

Non-pensioner discount rate 1.5  2.2 1.8  0.7 1.1  0.8 

Pensioner RPI 2.9  3.4 2.9  - -  - 

Non-pensioner RPI 2.8  3.2 2.8  - -  - 

Pensioner CPI 2.0  2.3 2.0  1.0 1.2  1.2 

Non-pensioner CPI 2.0  2.1 2.0  1.0 1.2  1.2 

Rate of increase of pensions 

in payment (final salary 

sections) - pensioner 

2.9  3.2 2.8  - -  - 

Rate of increase of pensions 

in payment (final salary 

sections) – non-pensioner 

2.8  3.1 2.8  - -  - 

Rate of increase of pensions 

in payment (CARE section) 

- pensioner 

1.7  1.8 1.7  - -  - 

Rate of increase of pensions 

in payment (CARE section) 

– non-pensioner 

1.7  1.7 1.7  - -  - 

Pension increase for deferred 

benefits 
2.0  2.1 2.0  1.0 1.2  1.2 

Medical premium inflation 

rate 
6.9  7.4 6.9  - -  - 

 

Mortality assumptions are set using standard tables based on scheme-specific experience where available 
and an allowance for future improvements. For July 2020, the assumptions used were in line with the SAPS 
(S3) series mortality tables with scheme-specific adjustments (July 2019 – SAPS (S2) series) with future 
improvements in line with the CMI_2019 model with a 1.25% long-term rate of improvement (July 2019 – 
CMI_2018 model with a 1.25% long-term rate of improvement). The AAI scheme mortality assumptions are set 
using standard tables with scheme-specific adjustments. 

The AA schemes’ overall assumptions are that an active male retiring in normal health currently aged 60 will 
live on average for a further 25 years (July 2019: 26 years) and an active female retiring in normal health 
currently aged 60 will live on average for a further 28 years (July 2019: 28 years). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



AA plc  
Interim report for the six months ended 31 July 2020 

 

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

48 
 

 

 

20 Defined benefit pension scheme liabilities (continued) 

Sensitivity analysis 

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other 
assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit liability by the amounts shown below: 

 For the six months ended 31 July 2020 

 
AAUK 

£m 
AAI 
£m 

AAPMP 
£m 

Increase of 0.25% in discount rate 134 4 2 

Increase of 0.25% in RPI (119) (2) - 

Increase of 1% in medical claims inflation - - (8) 

Increase of one year of life expectancy (112) (2) - 

An equivalent decrease in the assumptions at 31 July 2020 would have had a broadly equal but opposite effect 
on the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. The amounts shown above 
are the effects of changing the assumptions on the gross defined benefit liability, rather than on the net deficit. 
The de-risked investment strategy and high levels of hedging reduce the sensitivities of changing these 
assumptions on the net deficit considerably. 

 

21 Related party transactions 
 
The following tables provide the total values of transactions that have been entered into with associates and 
joint ventures in the period. 
 
Transactions with associates: 

  Six months ended Year ended 

 
 
Associate 

 
 
Nature of transaction 

July 
2020 

July 
2019 

January 
2020 

£m £m £m 

ARC Europe SA Registration and call handling fees 1 1 5 
     

At 31 July 2020, the Group had an outstanding balance payable to ARC Europe SA of £1m (2019: £1m) in 
respect of the above transactions. 
 
Transactions with joint ventures: 

  Six months ended Year ended 

 
 
Joint venture 

 
 
Nature of transaction 

July 
2020 

July 
2019 

January 
2020 

£m £m £m 

AA Media Limited Services supplied to AA Media Limited - 1 1 
Drvn Solutions Limited Goods supplied by Drvn Solutions Limited 1 - 1 

 
At 31 July 2020, the Group had an outstanding balance receivable from AA Media Limited of £4m comprising 
fixed rate loan notes (2019: £4m) (see note 12). 
 
Intelematics Europe Limited changed its name to Drvn Solutions Limited on 10 June 2020. At 31 July 2020, 
the Group had an outstanding balance payable to Drvn Solutions Limited of £nil (2019: £nil) in respect of the 
above transactions.  
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22 Fair values 

Fair values 

Financial instruments held at fair value are valued using quoted market prices or other valuation techniques.  

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, and comparison to similar 
instruments for which market observable prices exist. Assumptions and market observable inputs used in 
valuation techniques include interest rates.  

The objective of using valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value that reflects the price of the financial 
instrument at each year end at which the asset or liability would have been exchanged by market participants 
acting at arm’s length.  

Observable inputs are those that have been seen either from counterparties or from market pricing sources 
and are publicly available. The use of these depends upon the liquidity of the relevant market. When 
measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable inputs as much as possible. Fair 
values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation 
as follows: 

Level 1 - Quoted market prices in an actively traded market for identical assets or liabilities. These are the 
most reliable.  

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities. 
These include valuation models used to calculate the present value of expected future cash flows and may be 
employed either when no active market exists or when there are quoted prices available for similar instruments 
in active markets. The models incorporate various inputs including interest rate curves and forward rate curves 
of the underlying instrument.  

Level 3 - Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data. 

If the inputs used to measure the fair values of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of 
the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level as the 
lowest input that is significant to the entire measurements.  

The fair values are periodically reviewed by the Group Treasury function. The following tables provide the 
quantitative fair value hierarchy of the Group’s fuel and interest rate swaps and loan notes. 

The carrying values of all other financial assets and liabilities (including the Senior Term Facility) are 
approximate to their fair values: 

 

At 31 July 2020: 

  Fair value measurement using 

  

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets 

 
Significant 
observable 

inputs 

 
Significant 

unobservable 
inputs 

 
Carrying value 

£m 
(Level 1) 

£m 
(Level 2) 

£m 
(Level 3) 

£m 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value     

Interest rate swap derivatives (note 19) 1 1 - - 

Forward fuel contracts (note 19) 3 3 - - 

Liabilities for which fair values are 
disclosed 

    

Loan notes (note 18)  2,516 2,467 - - 
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22 Fair values (continued) 

At 31 July 2019: 

  Fair value measurement using 

  

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets 

 
Significant 
observable 

inputs 

 
Significant 

unobservable 
inputs 

 
Carrying value 

£m 
(Level 1) 

£m 
(Level 2) 

£m 
(Level 3) 

£m 

Financial assets measured at fair value     

Forward fuel contracts (note 19) (1) (1) - - 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value     

Interest rate swap derivatives (note 19) 1 1 - - 

Deferred consideration (due in more than 
one year) (note 15) 

10 10 - - 

Liabilities for which fair values are 
disclosed 

    

Loan notes (note 18)  2,730 2,643 - - 

 

At 31 January 2020: 

  Fair value measurement using 

  

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets 

 
Significant 
observable 

inputs 

 
Significant 

unobservable 
inputs 

 
Carrying value 

£m 
(Level 1) 

£m 
(Level 2) 

£m 
(Level 3) 

£m 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value     

Forward fuel contracts (note 19) 2 2 - - 

Liabilities for which fair values are 
disclosed 

    

Loan notes (note 18)  2,706 2,746 - - 

 

 

23 Events after the reporting period 
 
Potential offer for the Group 
 
On 4 August 2020, it was announced that the Group was in preliminary discussions with a number of parties in 
relation to a potential offer for the Group. Discussions have been progressed with TowerBrook Capital 
Partners (U.K.) LLP and Warburg Pincus International LLC (together the "Consortium") and the deadline for 
the Consortium to either announce a firm intention to make an offer or announce that it does not intend to 
make an offer was today extended to 27 October 2020.
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The Directors confirm that to the best of their knowledge: 
 

• The consolidated interim financial information contained in this report has been prepared in 
accordance with International Accounting Standard 34 ‘Interim Financial Reporting’ (IAS 34);  

 

• The Chairman’s statement and the financial report together include a fair review of the information 
required by the Financial Conduct Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules (‘DTR’) 4.2.7R 
(indication of important events during the first six months and description of principal risks and 
uncertainties for the remaining six months of the year); and 
 

• The interim report includes a fair review of the information required by DTR 4.2.8R (disclosure of 
related party transactions and changes therein).   
 
 

 
 
 
By order of the Board 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive Officer 

28 September 2020 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Forward-looking statements  
 
This document contains various forward-looking statements that reflect management’s current views with 
respect to future events and anticipated financial and operational performance. By their nature, forward-
looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors because they relate to 
events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Forward-looking statements are 
not guarantees of future performance and the Group’s actual financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows, and the development of the industry in which it operates, may differ materially from (and be more 
negative than) those made in, or suggested by, the forward-looking statements contained in this document. In 
addition, even if its financial condition, results of operations and cash flows and the development of the 
industry in which it operates are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this document, 
those results or developments may not be indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods. 
Although the Group believes that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are 
reasonable, it can give no assurance that they will materialise or prove to be correct. Because these forward-
looking statements are based on assumptions or estimates and are subject to risks and uncertainties, the 
actual results or outcome could differ materially from those set out in the forward-looking statements. 
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Independent review report to AA plc 

Report on the interim condensed consolidated financial statements 

Our conclusion 

We have reviewed AA plc's interim condensed consolidated financial statements (the "interim financial statements") in the 
Interim Report of AA plc for the 6 month period ended 31 July 2020. Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention 
that causes us to believe that the interim financial statements are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard 34, ‘Interim Financial Reporting’, as adopted by the European Union and the Disclosure 
Guidance and Transparency Rules sourcebook of the United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority. 

What we have reviewed 

The interim financial statements comprise: 

• the Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 July 2020; 

• the Consolidated income statement and Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the period then ended; 

• the Consolidated statement of cash flows for the period then ended; 

• the Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the period then ended; and 

• the explanatory notes to the interim financial statements. 

The interim financial statements included in the Interim Report have been prepared in accordance with International 
Accounting Standard 34, ‘Interim Financial Reporting’, as adopted by the European Union and the Disclosure Guidance and 
Transparency Rules sourcebook of the United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority. 

As disclosed in note 1 to the interim financial statements, the financial reporting framework that has been applied in the 
preparation of the full annual financial statements of the Group is applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 

Responsibilities for the interim financial statements and the review 

Our responsibilities and those of the directors 

The Interim Report, including the interim financial statements, is the responsibility of, and has been approved by, the 
directors. The directors are responsible for preparing the Interim Report in accordance with the Disclosure Guidance and 
Transparency Rules sourcebook of the United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority. 

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the interim financial statements in the Interim Report based on our review. 
This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared for and only for the Company for the purpose of complying with the 
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules sourcebook of the United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority and for no 
other purpose.  We do not, in giving this conclusion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in 
writing. 

What a review of interim financial statements involves 

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements (UK and Ireland) 2410, 
‘Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity’ issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board for use in the United Kingdom. A review of interim financial information consists of making enquiries, 
primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. 

A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
and, consequently, does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might 
be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. 

We have read the other information contained in the Interim Report and considered whether it contains any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the information in the interim financial statements. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
London 
28 September 2020 


